MENTAL HEALTH: IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SMHAT-1 TOOL TO SCREEN FOR MENTAL HEALTH CONCERNS AMONG COLLEGIATE ATHLETES ATTENDING A

MIDWESTERN UNIVERSITY

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Chrisann Richter

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF NURSING PRACTICE

> Major Program: Nursing

> > March 2024

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

MENTAL HEALTH: IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SMHAT-1 TOOL TO SCREEN FOR MENTAL HEALTH CONCERNS AMONG COLLEGIATE ATHLETES ATTENDING A MIDWESTERN UNIVERSITY

By

Chrisann Richter

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with North Dakota

State University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the degree of

DOCTOR OF NURSING PRACTICE

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Mykell Barnacle

Chair

Dr. Carrie Nelson

Dr. Shannon David

Dr. Allison Peltier

Approved:

April 18, 2024

Dr. Mykell Barnacle

Date

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

College athletes experience increased prevalence of anxiety, depression, sleep disorder, substance misuse, and eating disorders when compared to general college student population. When suffering from mental illness, signs and symptoms that elite, or professional athletes portray may mimic behaviors that are normative for dedicated athletes with demanding schedules and high-performance expectations. Early identification by athletic staff, coaches, and healthcare professionals is the key to facilitating early intervention. Routine screening for mental health has been proven effective in identifying athletes who are at risk for, or currently suffering from mental health disorders. Early identification, intervention and treatment offer athletes a better outcome.

The purpose of this project is to identify Division I college athletes who may be at risk for, or currently suffering from mental health illness. The mental health of the athletes was assessed over the duration of pre-season to mid-season of the indoor competitive sport season to determine if psychosocial distress is positively correlated with the progression of the sport season. The Sport Mental Health Assessment Tool 1 (SMHAT-1) was administered via Qualtrics survey to freshman, sophomore, junior, and senior track and field athletes at a Midwestern University pre- and mid-season to evaluate the trend in psychological well-being.

iii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deepest and most heartfelt gratitude to those who have played an instrumental role in the creation and completion of this dissertation project. I am profoundly thankful to my clinical advisor and project chair, Mykell Barnacle, for her endless guidance and support. Her expertise, patience, and constructive feedback helped shape the content and design of this project. I would also like to extent my sincere appreciation to members of my dissertation committee, Carrie Nelson, Shannon David, and Allison Peltier. Their time, encouragement and feedback significantly enriched the quality of this work.

I am grateful to the university for providing a conductive environment for research and to the track and field athletic staff and the university's board of athletics for allowing the implementation of this project with the track and field team. This project would not have been possible without the participation of the student athletes. Therefore, I owe them credit for the success of this project, and I appreciate their time.

Lastly, I dedicate a special thank you to my family, friends, and classmates. They have provided unwavering support throughout this academic journey. Their belief in my abilities have remained a constant source of motivation. This dissertation project is a culmination of the collective efforts of many individuals, and I am sincerely grateful for their support and encouragement received along the way.

iv

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	X
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
Background and Significance	
Problem Statement	
Purpose	
Objectives	
CHAPTER 2: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND LITERATURE REVIEW	
Theoretical Framework	
Health Promotion Model	
Individual Characteristics and Experiences	
Behavior-Specific Cognitive and Affect	
Behavioral Outcome	
Plan Do Study Act Model	7
Plan	7
Do	
Study	
Act	9
Literature Review	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Mental Health Disorder Prevalence Among Student Athletes	
Stressors and Risk Factors Specific to Student Athletes	12
Reason to Screen for Mental Health Conditions in Student Athletes	14
Anxiety and Athletes	16
Depression and Athletes	17
Substance Misuse and Athletes	19
Sleep Disturbance and Athletes	
Eating Disorders and Athletes	
Help-Seeking Behavior by Student Athletes for Mental Health Concerns	
Mental Health Literacy Among Coaches	30
Providing Mental Health Screening: SMHAT-1 Screening Tool	
Summary and Research Gaps	40
CHAPTER 3: METHODS	
Overall Project Design	
Implementation Plan	
Setting	
Sample/Recruitment	44
Evidence-Based Project Interventions	45
Evaluation/Outcomes/Data Analysis	
Conclusion	51
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	52
Pre-season and Mid-season Psychological Measure Findings	56
Psychological Strain	56

Depression	57
Anxiety	57
Sleep Disturbance	58
Alcohol Misuse	58
Drug Use	59
Disordered Eating	59
Additional Screening Tools	59
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	61
Summary	61
Discussion	63
Recommendations	64
Dissemination	65
Strengths and Limitations	66
Conclusion	67
REFERENCES	68
APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	
APPENDIX B: PERMISSION TO USE SMHAT-1 TOOL	89
APPENDIX C: IOC SMHAT-1 TOOL	
APPENDIX D: PERMISSION TO USE HEALTH PROMOTION MODEL	100
APPENDIX E: QUALTRICS SURVEY	101
APPENDIX F: MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID TRAINING CERTIFICATE	136
APPENDIX G: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	137

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>		<u>Page</u>
1.	Demographics of Participants	53
2.	SAs Who Scored Above Threshold	54
3.	Statistics of SAs Who Completed Both Pre- and Mid-season Surveys	55

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>		Page
1.	Health Promotion Model: Adapted for Utilizing the SMHAT-1 Tool to Assess Mental Health Among Student Athletes	6
2.	PDSA Model	9
3.	OAE Table	49
4.	Logic Model	50

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

SMHAT-1	Sport Mental Health Assessment Tool-1
MH	Mental Health
SA	Student Athlete
NCAA	National Collegiate Athletic Association
IOC	International Olympic Committee
PDSA	Plan Do Study Act
APA	American Psychiatric Association
WHO	World Health Organization
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
NIMH	National Institute of Mental Health
ISSP	International Society for Sports Psychiatry
MT	Mental Toughness
NAMI	National Alliance on Mental Illness
CDC	Center of Disease Control
ACHA	American College Health Association
NIAAA	National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism
NIH	National Institute of Health
AT	Athletic Trainer
GM	Growth Mindset
NATA	National Athletic Training Association
APSQ	Athlete Psychological Strain Questionnaire
GAD	Generalized Anxiety Disorder

PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire
CAGE-AID	Cutdown, Annoyed, Guilty, Eye-opener Adapted to Include Drugs
BEDA-Q	Brief Eating Disorder in Athletes Questionnaire
AUDIT-C	Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test Consumption
ASSQ	Autism Spectrum Screening Questionnaire
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Background and Significance

Research has demonstrated that there is a growing prevalence of mental health (MH) disorders among elite athletes. Compared to non-athlete college students, student athletes (SA) experience increased rates of anxiety, depression, substance misuse, sleep disturbance, and eating disorders. The prevalence of depression among SA's is 15-25% and one in three experience anxiety (Leonelli, et al., 2022). Suffering from psychological distress can further lead to substance misuse, fatigue, unhealthy eating habits, and aggressive behaviors (De Souza, et al., 2021). Although SA's are at an increased risk for suffering from MH symptoms, the rates of suicide are lower when compared to the general college population. Findings from a retrospective cohort study performed in 2003-2012 indicated that suicide incidence among the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) athletes was 0.93/100,000 compared to 7.5/100,000 of the general college population (Rao, et al., 2015; Anchuri, et al., 2019). SA's face unique variables that factor into their physical and mental well-being. Risks specific to athletes include overtraining, injury, concussion, performance failure, and the type of sport (individual vs. team) participated in (Purcell, et al., 2019).

Despite suffering from MH symptoms, many SA's do not seek psychological help. A linear regression showed that athletes who reported having strong coping skills and less coach stigma portrayed supportive attitudes to seeking help compared to athletes who did not report having strong coping skills (Kroshus, 2017). Identifying MH concerns among college athletes remains difficult due to athletes denying or under reporting symptoms and fear of MH stigma (Leonelli, et al., 2022).

With increased awareness of MH disorder prevalence among college athletes, early identification is critical to facilitate intervention and treatment. MH does not only affect current athletes, but also former athletes. A study found that 26% of former athletes reported feelings of depression and anxiety (Gouttebarge, et al., 2019). The NCAA suggests athletes need a preparticipation physical exam as an opportunity to help with early detection of MH. The International Olympic Committee (IOC) also advises researchers to improve MH screening among elite athletes. In reviewing literature, a study assessing the MH of collegiate athletes found 71.8% of athletes scores were indicative of concerns for MH during preseason screening. This study also revealed that the presence of MH problems in the preseason directly connect with competitive season MH problems (Leonelli, et al., 2022). Although policies and procedures differ among college institutions, early identification and provision of the necessary resources on campus is necessary to support and lower the risk of MH issues among college athletes.

Problem Statement

College level athletes are a high-profile population for developing mental health concerns.

Purpose

The purpose of this quality improvement project is to implement the SMHAT-1 mental health screening tool during competitive pre-season and mid-season to identify collegiate athletes who are at risk for, or who are currently struggling with mental health disorders.

Objectives

Objective 1: Hold an educational session with the University's track and field student athletes prior to the start of their sport season.

Objective 2: Administer the SMHAT-1 tool to assess the mental health among Division I collegiate athletes participating in track and field events at a Midwest University before the start (pre-season) of their indoor competitive season and half-way through (mid-season) their competitive indoor season to evaluate for changes in mental health.

Objective 3: Disseminate mental health survey analysis findings with the University's track and field coaches and athletic staff.

CHAPTER 2: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Chapter two discusses the application of the Health Promotion Model by Nola Pender and the Plan Do Study Act (PDSA) model to this research project. An extensive literature review conducted on MH risk factors, barriers, and common disorders among SAs is also included within chapter two. The literature review includes research studies that have assessed mental health literature among coaches, the importance of routinely screening athletes for MH concerns, and valid screening tools for recommended use.

Theoretical Framework

Health Promotion Model

The theoretical framework used to guide this health improvement project is the Health Promotion Model by Nola Pender. This model was created to assist nurses in promoting healthy lifestyle behaviors by first identifying and understanding determinants of health. The Health Promotion Model has three main components: individual characteristics and experiences, behavior-specific cognition and affect, and behavioral outcome (Pender, 2011).

Individual Characteristics and Experiences

In this component of the Health Promotion Model, prior health behaviors and personal factors (ex. age, race, ethnicity, etc.) that may influence an individual's health behaviors are identified (Pender, 2011). SA's experience unique stressors and risk factors, putting them at an increased risk for mental health concerns.

Behavior-Specific Cognitive and Affect

The second component of the Health Promotion Model includes perceived benefits and barriers to action, perceived self-efficacy, activity-related affect, interpersonal influences, situational influences, commitment to a plan of action, and immediate competing demands and

preferences (Pender, 2011). Benefits of action SA's may experience from seeking help for MH concerns include improved mood and performance. Barriers to action SA's may experience are financial constraints or stigma. Perceived self-efficacy, including self-confidence and personal capability, is what SA's need to have to seek professional help and have a successful outcome. Activity-related affects are the feelings and emotions SA's experience while struggling with MH signs and symptoms. These affects may lead to adverse effects such as substance abuse or suicide. Interpersonal influences include family, friends, teammates, health care providers and athletic staff. Support from these sources will help SA's seek professional help to address MH concerns. Situational influences, such as the environment or sport season impacts the MH of SA's. For example, a SA may experience worsening signs and symptoms of MH during the middle of their competitive sport season compared to the beginning or end of the sport season. Commitment to a plan of action is ideally determined by the SA, but routine follow-up by athletic staff (ex. athletic trainers and coaches) and health care professionals can assist SA's to seek help and form strategies to experience successful MH outcomes. The final component within behavior-specific cognitive and affect is immediate competing demands and preferences. Student athletes may feel it is easier to cope with MH symptoms in unhealthy ways (ex. drugs and alcohol) rather than facing barriers to seeking help. Lack of time within a school and training schedule may also be a competing demand.

Behavioral Outcome

Behavioral outcome is the final step within the Health Promotion Model and reflects health promoting behavior. The desired behavioral outcome is that all SA's who are at risk for, or currently suffering from MH symptoms, seek professional help.

Figure 1

Health Promotion Model: Adapted for Utilizing the SMHAT-1 Tool to Assess Mental Health Among Student Athletes



Note: Used with permission from Nola Pender, PhD, RN, FAAN. Copywrite 1996. For permission to use this model please contact the University of Michigan School of Nursing or visit this link: https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/handle/2027.42/85351.

Plan Do Study Act Model

The Plan Do Study Act (PDSA) Model is the model used to guide this project to improve MH among SA's. This model is used for problem-solving and uses four stages to improve or change a current process. The four stages included within this model are plan, do, study, and act (MNDH, 2022).

Plan

The first stage is planning. This includes forming a team of members who are knowledgeable about the research topic and can help provide an opportunity for improvement (MNDH, 2022). A project chair, graduate appointee, and two committee members have been chosen to help guide this project. The head coach of the University's track and field team, along with the head athletic trainer for the University's track and field team, helped with the implementation of this project.

Identifying the aim of the study is also included within the planning stage (MNDH, 2022). Three project objectives have been created to identify the goals of this health improvement project. These objectives include: Holding an educational session for the track and field SAs and athletic staff, assess the mental health among Division I collegiate athletes before participating in the start (pre-season) of their sport season and evaluate for changes in mental health half-way through (mid-season) their sport season to identify athletes who are at high risk for, or currently struggling with mental health issues, and disseminate mental health survey analysis findings with coaches and athletic staff to bring awareness to mental health signs and symptoms.

Identifying the current process is the third step within the planning stage (MNDH, 2022). This included collaborating with the University's Student Health Center health care providers

and the athletic trainer for the University's track and field team to identify the current process in assessing MH among SA's. Behavioral health screening tools currently used routinely (at least once a year) among SA's are PHQ-2, PHQ-9, and GAD-7.

Identifying the problem is the fourth component within the planning stage (MNDH, 2022). An in-depth review of literature was conducted prior to implementation of this project. A problem statement has also been created that clearly defines the problem that will be addressed within this health improvement project.

Identifying causes and alternatives is the final step within the planning stage (MNDH, 2022). Reviewing current research and literature helped to identify causes of MH among athletes. The implementation of the SMHAT-1 tool to assess MH among SA's is an alternative way to assess mental status of current athletes.

Do

The 'Do' stage includes implementation of the proposed project design and data collection (MNDH, 2022). This included administering the SMHAT-1 screening tool amongst the University's track and field SA's via Qualtrics survey. The tool was administered precompetitive season and mid-competition season to assess for changes in MH among the athletes. **Study**

While keeping in mind the aim of the project, the results of the data collected are studied (MNDH, 2022). This step included identifying any changes of MH among the SA's during pre and mid competitive season. The data was analyzed for aggregate trends and patterns, as well as individual results.

The fourth stage of the PDSA Model is reflecting on the plan and outcomes (MNDH, 2022). If results of the survey demonstrate the SMHAT-1 tool to be effective in identifying MH changes or concerns in SA's, it will be recommended to implement the SMHAT-1 into current practice. If results do not provide sufficient data supporting the validation of the SMHAT-1 tool, then continuation of the current practice tools will be recommended.

Figure 2

PDSA Model



Literature Review

Mental Health Disorder Prevalence Among Student Athletes

The American Psychiatric Association (APA) and the World Health Organization (WHO) define MH disorders as conditions that cause significant clinical distress or impairment and meet specific diagnostic criteria from professional references such as the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) or the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) (APA, 2013; WHO, 2018; Gouttebarge, et al., 2019). Although MH disorders are diagnosed by medical professionals, the topic of MH is not limited to purely medical definitions and encompasses various thoughts, feelings, and emotions. Feelings of hopelessness, sadness, depression, loneliness, anxiety, and anger all contribute to MH (Anchuri, et al., 2020). The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) states that any mental disorder, or disorders of behavior or emotion, is considered mental illness (NIMH, 2020).

Most MH disorders develop during adolescence and young adulthood. The NIMH estimates that 21% (1 in 5) of the U.S. population 18 years or older live with mental illness, and that MH is more prevalent among young adults ages 18-25 with a rate of 30.6% compared to adults ages 26-49 with a rate of 25.3% (NIMH, 2020). Mental illness should be addressed from a holistic approach considering physical, emotional, and spiritual health as factors that contribute to MH. The ability to manage stress and function in society relies heavily on an individual's mental well-being. Signs and symptoms of mental illness may manifest negative effects on an individual's behavior, thoughts, emotions, social relationships, occupation, and overall daily life (Gorczynski, et al., 2021).

MH disorders are becoming a worldwide concern and are being recognized as a leading cause of disease, not just among SAs, but among coaches as well (Herpen, 2022; Müller, El

Ansari, & El Ansari, 2022). In a cross-sectional study performed in Ireland, 350 sport coaches were asked to complete a survey assessing their mental health. The survey results yielded 34% of the participants reported personal history or experience with mental health, an alarming statistic (Duffy, Rooney, & Matthews, 2021). The global MH endemic is especially concerning among the SA population considering the unique challenges and expectations that they face. Considering MH is a leading cause of disease burden, it is crucial that all athletes who are experiencing or at risk for developing mental illness receive appropriate care (Kroshus, 2017).

Although the concern for MH disorders is rising, there are simple methods to improve an individual's well-being. Research has shown that physical activity can have a positive impact on MH. There are more than 8 million students at the high school level and 500,000 students at the college level who participate in an organized sport function yearly (Kroshus, 2017). With the increased awareness of MH among SAs, lower depression scores were present among college students who participated in a team sport or identified themselves as an athlete compared to college students who had no participation in physical activity (Blanco, et al., 2008; Snedden, et al., 2019). Along with the physical activity component, the opportunity to form relationships and socialize with members of a team benefits MH. Higher mental health concerns were found in a study involving college students who were not considered athletes yet participated in regular physical activity or team sports (Snedden, et al., 2019). Despite the form (individual vs. team) or level of skill or competition, physical activity directly benefits MH.

Despite these findings, MH of collegiate athletes has been in the spotlight in recent years. There has been an increase in study of MH disorders and symptoms among this population (Gouttebarge, et al., 2019). The relationship between health behaviors and MH is important to note when addressing the college SA population considering the increased level of stress they

encounter (Martens, O'Connor, & Beck, 2006; De Souza, et al., 2021). Collegiate athletes encounter unique stressors when compared to their non-athlete peers as a result from having to balance the student and athlete role. It is known that MH conditions are present among fourteen percent of incoming NCAA Division I SAs (Sarac, Sarac, & Borchers, 2018; Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022) prior to beginning their college career. The prevalence of MH conditions is higher among elite athletes (current and former) when compared to the general public as a result from having to encounter stressors that are sport-specific (Arnold & Fletcher, 2012; Gouttebarge, et al., 2019). In a consensual qualitative research study assessing the MH among NCAA Division I SAs, it was found that pertinent contributors to MH concerns included difficulty with time management due to the demands of sport participation, present mental health conditions, and unanticipated injury (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

Stressors and Risk Factors Specific to Student Athletes

NCAA Division I college SAs are considered elite athletes. SAs not only have to transition into their college sport environment, but also into a new living, social, and academic environment that undoubtedly affects their MH. Stressors include coaches' expectations, team conflict, injury, academic responsibility, and strict schedules (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022). SAs also face new living environments, being distant from family, and increased responsibilities (Piko, 2000; El Ansari & Stock, 2010; Müller, El-Ansari, & El Ansari, 2022).

The adjustment into the college lifestyle and settling in along with the additional transition into a collegiate sport can certainly be a threat to the MH of SAs. A meta-analyses study found that anxiety, depression, poor sleep quality, and feelings of distress were prevalent

among current SAs. These findings may be explained by the stress of general life events interrelated with sport stress (Arnold & Fletcher, 2012; Engel, 1977; Gouttebarge, et al., 2019). The demands of being a SA can become a physical and mental strain. Balancing athletic and academic requirements put SA at a high risk for negative health outcomes (Dean & Rowan, 2014; Beasley, Hoffman, & Andelin, 2021).

SAs not only face sport-specific stressors, but also specific risk factors. Risk factors may differ based on the sport setting (team vs. individual), with individual sports posing a higher risk to mental wellness. Sport-related risk factors include overtraining, injury, and performance failure. Along with sport-specific risk factors, SAs also face general risk factors. These include adverse life events, impaired sleep, and lack of social support, which may have a negative impact on MH. Risk factors vary throughout an athlete's career. For example, supportive relationships with coaches and parents during the early developmental years of an athlete's career influences an athlete's mental well-being. As athletes excel in the professional phase of their career, training demands and environmental factors influence their mental well-being (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019). Although SAs face sport-specific risk factors that may contribute to poor MH, with early identification and intervention, these risk factors may be modified to improve the athlete's overall mental and physical outcome.

Although SAs have numerous factors that impact their mental well-being, SAs also face unique barriers to seeking professional help in addressing MH concerns. Athlete specific barriers include fear of being viewed as weak or that seeking care will have a negative impact on their performance (Kroshus, 2017). With the increasing prevalence of MH among SAs, and the stigma that has been placed on seeking professional care, the International Society for Sports Psychiatry

(ISSP) has largely advocated for sports psychiatry to be incorporated into sports programs so that MH among SAs can be assessed and SAs can access treatment.

Reason to Screen for Mental Health Conditions in Student Athletes

There are concerns within sports psychology regarding the stigma society has placed on mental illness in sport and the lack of health promotion (ISSP, 1994; Gorczynski, et al., 2021). As defined by the APA, sports psychology is a specialty that addresses an athlete's overall wellbeing and optimal sport performance (APA, 2019). Sports psychology also addresses social and developmental sport-related issues and systemic issues that occur within a sport setting, whereas clinical psychology offers MH treatment and promotes well-being to any individual or groups that encounter mental illness or psychological distress (APA, 2019; Gorczynski, et al., 2021). Although the APA provides alternative definitions for sports psychology and clinical psychology, these specialties work together to improve MH among athletes.

Mental toughness (MT) among athletes is a MH component assessed by sports psychology. MT is defined as a psychological resource individuals utilize during challenging situations to improve performance (Beattie, et al., 2020; Bédard, et al., 2021). Recently, MT has earned increased attention in literature by considering the importance of MT during stressful situations and competitive achievement among athletes (Gucciardi, et al., 2015; Bédard, et al., 2021). Improving MH awareness and health literacy among athletes and team members may destigmatize MH in the sport setting and offer improved well-being of athletes. The first study performed and is believed to be the only study of this nature currently in research, found that MH interventions focused on MH literacy and resiliency implemented amongst adolescent male participants that were part of an organized nonelite sport had an effective outcome (Vella, et al., 2021).

MH has a direct relation to behavioral health. Tobacco use, sleep quality, physical activity, and utilizing MH services are often influenced by MH factors (Ridner, Newton, Staten, Crawford, & Hall, 2016; Snedden, et al., 2019). With the increased demands and expectations that influence MH among SAs throughout their career, research has indicated that SAs are considered a vulnerable population and are at an increased risk for taking part in risky behaviors. When compared to their non-athlete peers, college SAs are more likely to fall victim to physical, verbal, or sexual abuse, or be involved in a physical altercation, which contributes to a negative impact on MH, behavioral health, and overall quality of life (Charest, et al., 2021). Health-related behaviors that are formed over the college years are crucial in building a foundation of well-being that will continue into adulthood.

Assessing MH is a way to assess an individual's overall well-being (Snedden, et al., 2019). Therefore, routine MH screening should be performed among SAs. Research suggests that MH should be assessed at every routine physical check-up (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019). Routine MH screening could offer early intervention and/or prevention of adverse effects from mental illness. Prevention of mental illness can be made possible by health promotion and disease prevention strategies, whereas the goal of early intervention is to intervene during the early stages of signs and symptoms of mental health disorders (Duffy, Rooney, & Matthews, 2021).

Current research supporting the increased prevalence of mental illness in college athletes should not only concern athletes, but also coaches, athletic staff, universities, and sport organizations. Recently, the NCAA has shed light upon this current and increasing issue. In doing so, the NCAA has written seven statements aimed at identifying, preventing, and treating MH issues in elite athletes. With this strategic approach, education and interventions will be

implemented on both an individual and systemic level to promote MH awareness and improve mental health literacy (Gorczynski, et all, 2021). Providing MH resources to both non-athlete college students and SAs can help promote MH awareness. The National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI) is a program that co-exists with other established MH programs on U.S. college campuses to educate and advocate for all college students who seek information regarding MH (NAMI, 2018; Snedden, et al., 2019).

By acknowledging MH concerns of SAs, the NCAA is putting forth effort to provide SAs and athletic staff with necessary resources to promote early identification and treatment of MH disorders. With means to provide necessary resources, universities have been highly encouraged to put into effect policy and procedures that offer identification of signs and symptoms of MH and a referral process for SAs with MH concerns to seek appropriate care from qualified health care professionals (Neil, et al., 2013; Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022). The NCAA has also created the Mental Health Best Practices in effort to facilitate interdependence between athletic departments and other on-campus services available to SA such as counseling centers, student health centers, and student affairs with hopes to improve MH (NCAA, 2017; Anchuri, et al., 2020).

Anxiety and Athletes

The college student population, despite their level of education, experience high levels of anxiety. One of the largest research studies regarding student stress assessed 18,000 students in Germany and found that 53% of the students reported excessive stress. Reasons for this included time constraints, pressure to perform, and feeling overwhelmed. If an individual is unable to cope with feelings of perceived stress, this may lead to poor academic performance, and lack of

motivation which in turn leads to lower productivity (Alsaleem, et al., 2021; Müller, El Ansari, & El Ansari, 2022).

While a majority of students experience stress, physical activity is a method shown to have a positive effect on lowering stress levels. Therefore, SAs may be at a slight advantage when coping with perceived stress. Research has found that participation in a sport can provide strong self-esteem, self-reliance, and individual accomplishments which may benefit an individual's overall well-being (Boone, et al., 2006; Armstrong, et al., 2009; Anchuri, et al., 2020).

While these personal traits may be perceived as protective measures against mental illness, they do not provide immunity for SAs. Concerns about MH among SAs or lack of MH services among the SA population should not be disregarded (Anchuri, et al., 2020). A meta-analysis analyzing MH in 5,555 elite athletes found that 19.6% of current elite athletes reported feelings of distress and 34% reported anxiety and depression (Gouttebarge, et al., 2019). Moreover, a study performed by Drew & Matthews (2019) found that 31% of SAs reported feelings of moderate to severe anxiety and depression (Drew & Matthews, 2019). Based on these research findings, providing MH awareness and education to SAs and athletic staff would be beneficial to lower levels of anxiety. Social support from coaches and teammates along with providing education on coping mechanisms against stress has been proven to lower anxiety in SAs (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

Depression and Athletes

Anxiety and depression tend to intercorrelate when discussing mental health disorders. Based on findings from a global study conducted by the American College Health Association (ACHA), it was found that 40% of undergraduate students in the U.S. were severely depressed

(ACHA, 2017; Müller, El Ansari, & El Ansari, 2022). In a similar global study assessing the prevalence of depression, results found depressive symptoms in 19% of male students and 22% female students attending universities across 23 different countries (Steptoe, Tsuda, Tanaka, & Wardle, 2007; Müller, El Ansari, & El Ansari, 2022). While these results are concerning, it should be taken into consideration that studies are limited in accuracy due to participants self-reporting and the possibility of participants underreporting thoughts or feelings of depression. As a result, there is a chance that the overall percentage of individuals suffering from depression may be higher than what is reported.

While rates of depression are found to be high among college students in general, SAs may be at a higher risk for depression due to sport-specific stressors. As a result of increased workloads and strict scheduling demands, SAs may suffer from lack of social interaction and fewer personal growth experiences than non-athlete college students. In response, early identification of signs of psychological distress is critical even if symptoms are not self-reported by the athlete themself (De Souza, et al., 2021).

One of the most serious consequences of unidentified and untreated depression is suicidal ideation and behaviors. According to the Center of Disease Control (CDC), in 2017 suicide was the 10th overall leading cause of death, and second leading cause of death in young adults (CDC, 2018; Anchury, et al., 2020). Research has found that suicide rates increase from adolescence into adulthood and that death by suicide among males is four times more likely than females, but females are more than twice as likely to attempt suicide (CDC, 2018; Anchuri, et al., 2020).

Attempted suicide by collegiate SAs is frequently associated with social difficulties (Anchuri, et al., 2020). A retrospective cohort study performed from 2003 to 2012 that assessed the incidence of suicide among NCAA members. Overall, the study found there were

0.93/100,000 SA suicides yearly compared to 7.5/100,000 suicides among non-athlete college students (Rao, et al., 2015; Anchuri, et al., 2020). Although these findings from a single study indicate suicide rates are higher among the general college student population compared to SAs, it is important to note prevalence of suicide among SAs is still of concern. Suicide is the fourth leading cause of death in the NCAA, with football being the leading sport with the highest number of suicides recorded (Rao, Asif, Drezner, Toresdahl & Harmon, 2015; Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

Common traits present among SAs such as mental toughness and resilience have not been proven to protect athletes against depression or other mental illness. Despite having these traits, the increased risk of SAs taking part in risky behaviors, competitive demands, and increased risk for injury place SAs at a similar risk to non-athlete students to suffer from MH disorders (Snedden, et la., 2019; Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

Substance Misuse and Athletes

Substance misuse among college athletes has been associated with poor MH (ex. depression). Research has found suicide among SAs is associated with binge-drinking and impulsivity (Dvorak, et al., 2013; Anchuri, 2020). Impulsivity in correlation with depressive mood is known to increase suicide proneness among SAs (Rao, et al., 2016; Anchuri, et al., 2020). In a meta-analysis study, 18.8% of elite athletes reported substance abuse, specifically alcohol misuse (Gouttebarge, et al., 2019).

Binge-drinking is one form of alcohol misuse and is found to be higher among SAs in correlation to their increased risk for taking part in risky behaviors. Binge-drinking is defined by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) as "a pattern of drinking alcohol that brings blood alcohol concentration to 0.08%" (NIAAA, 2020). Drinking five or

more alcoholic drinks for adult males and four or more for females in 120 minutes follows this pattern (NIAAA, 2020; Charest, et al., 2021).

Substance misuse is associated with adverse health behaviors and risks. Research found there is an increased likelihood of physical altercation, assault (physical & sexual), verbal threats, and stalking associated with SAs who consumed one to six alcoholic beverages compared to SA who did not drink (Charest, et al., 2021). A systematic review conducted in 2014 reports violence related to alcohol consumption was higher among sports groups compared to non-sport groups (Sonderlund, et al., 2014; Anchuri, et al., 2020). Social motives have been proven to be a strong predictor of substance misuse in college students in general (Ham & Hope, 2003; LaBrie, Hummer, & Pedersen, 2007; De Souza, et al., 2021).

Male and female SAs are at the same risk for partaking in risky behaviors including substance misuse. Female athletes reported that drinking often, but not binge-drinking, was used as a social act to feel a sense of belonging, blend in with their peers, and lower psychological distress (De Souza, et al., 2021). Results of a recent study assessing peer influence among NCAA SAs found that connectedness and social interaction within team membership and perceived self-image of athletes predicted prosocial and risky health behaviors (ex. illicit drug use & alcohol misuse) (Graupensperger, et al., 2018; Anchuri, et al., 2020). SAs may face serious consequences as a result of abusing substances. Despite the risk of losing scholarships, poor performance, and other negative outcomes specific to athletes that are associated with substance abuse, SAs use substances at higher rates than non-athlete college students (Neal, et al., 2013).

Substantial efforts should be made within university systems to address substance misuse among SAs. Perhaps addressing MH more robustly SAs can decrease rates of substance abuse.

Findings from a recent retrospective cross-sectional 8-year study (2011-2019) performed by the ACHA provides hope for improvement of MH conditions among the SA population. The study assessed whether MH among athletes has improved over the recent years. The study included 54,479 SAs along with 448,301 college students. Results found SAs were 4.4% to 16.3% more likely than non-athletes to receive MH information, specifically substance use (87.8% vs. 78.5%), eating disorders (42.9% vs. 33.6%), preventing violence (71.1% vs. 54.8%) and identifying signs of distress (55.4% vs. 46.4%) (Edwards, et al., 2021). In efforts to continue to improve MH among SAs and prevent substance abuse, athletic staff and other social services available to students should get involved. To aid athletes in abstaining from risky behaviors, counseling and courses offering time management, and coping skills should be made available to SAs (Gill, 2014; Beasley, Hoffman, & Andelin, 2021).

Sleep Disturbance and Athletes

Sleep disturbances have an impact on MH. One definition of sleep is a reversible unresponsive physical state where an individual is disengaged from their environment (Halson, 2014; Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019). Sleep health can be defined as promotion of physical and mental well-being through sleep-awake patterns affected by an individual's social and environment demands. Components of good sleep health include alertness during awake hours, adequate duration and time of sleep hours, and satisfaction with sleep quality (Buysse, 2014; Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019). Recommended sleep hours change over the human lifespan. The current recommendation for adolescents is eight to ten hours and seven to nine hours for adults (Hirshkowitz, et al., 2015; Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019).

There are many individual, cultural, and environmental factors that influence sleep. An individual's chronotype is a genetic factor that affects the circadian rhythm categorizing them into morning, afternoon, and evening types (Rosenthal, et al., 2001; Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019). Lifestyle behaviors such as caffeine intake, substance use, and poor sleep habits also have an impact on the circadian rhythm, resulting in an altered physiologic response (Golem, et al., 2014; Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019). Negative physiologic response (ex. poor sleep) can lead to negative consequences. When deprived of sleep, decision making and moral judgement can be impaired (Charest, et al., 2021).

With increased stressors and workload demands, college students have a higher risk for sleep disturbances in general. Research found 12%-14% of college students report clinical symptoms of sleep disorders and up to 60% report poor quality of sleep (Charest, et al., 2021). Although the college student population in general reports high levels of sleep disturbance, SAs are at an even higher risk. Relevant data from a meta-analysis of ten studies on sleep disturbance among athletes included 4,782 elite athlete participants from various sports and found 26.4% of athletes reported symptoms of sleep disturbance (Gouttebarge, et al., 2019).

In accordance with higher physical and mental demands during the competitive season, sleep quality and quantity is especially important for SAs. Sleep has a positive effect on the immune, nervous, and endocrine systems, playing an important role in memory, learning, and the waking state, which can have a direct impact on recovery and performance in athletes (Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019). As an important component of overall health in an athlete, sleep disturbances can lead to adverse events. The strongest predictor of injury specifically in adolescent athletes is obtaining less than eight hours of sleep (Milewski, 2014; Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019).

When compared to non-athlete college students, SAs face unique challenges that impair sleep. Due to time-intensive training schedules, stress and anxiety related to pre-competition, and travel, college SAs are more likely to encounter sleep disturbance and deprivation than other college students (Leeder, et al., 2012; Charest, et al., 2021). Despite the environmental challenges, athletes may also face physical challenges that lead to impaired sleep. Muscle soreness caused by inflammation can disrupt sleep (Hausswirth, et al., 2014; Doherty, Madigan, Warrington, & Ellis, 2019).

Poor sleep hygiene puts an individual at risk for negative health outcomes. A crosssectional study found that sleep disturbance may be the single risk factor for being involved in physical, verbal, or sexual assault (Charest, et al., 2021). Another study found that sleep disturbance was a main contributor toward aggressive and risky behavior including substance abuse, physical altercations, and risky sexual behavior (Gupta, et al., 2017; Charest, et al., 2021). The National Institute of Health (NIH) has specifically voiced concerns regarding sleep disturbance in the college student population and the increased risk it poses for alcohol consumption.

Sleep disturbance is correlated with MH disorders, most closely with depression. It is important to note that a cardinal sign of depression is sleep disturbance (Reardon, et al., 2019; Charest, et al., 2021). As a snowball effect, sleep disturbance and depression also put an individual at an increased risk of suicide. Sleep impairment is common among SAs and has a strong link to suicide. SAs who suffer from sleep impairment are four more times likely to experience suicide ideation when compared to SAs who do not suffer from sleep impairment (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann (2022).

Eating Disorders and Athletes

Eating disorders are prevalent among SAs due to performance expectations, self-image, and sport-specific weight expectations. In the retrospective cross-sectional study that collected data from the ACHA over an 8-year period (2011-2019), found that both groups studied (athletes and non-athletes) reported low rates for receiving information on the impacts of eating disorders (Edwards, et al., 2021). Although eating disorders are more commonly heard of in female athletes, male athletes also experience body concerns which may lead to an eating disorder. NIMH estimates that approximately one million U.S. males suffer from eating disorders (Strother, et al, 2012; Gallagher, et al., 2021). Although there is suspected high prevalence of eating disorders in men, there is a lack of research on this topic due to stigma. Eating disorders are underdiagnosed and undertreated, specifically in male athletes due to athletic goals being a significant risk factor (Gallagher, et al., 2021).

Regardless of athlete status, research has found the prevalence of eating disorders among females is higher. In fact, females are twice more likely than males to experience an eating disorder (Neal, et al., 2013). Women are also more likely than men to report their symptoms. A study found that women were 3.74 more times likely than men to report their self-image is affected by their body weight. In the same study, women were twice more likely than men to report their peers including friends, family, teammates, coaches, made statements calling them fat and/or made suggestions they lose weight (Gallagher, et al., 2021). While females have higher reported rates of eating disorders, they are also more likely than men to identify their symptoms and seek clinical diagnosis and treatment (Sonneville & Lipson, 2018; Gallagher, et al., 2021).

Eating disorders are typically assessed among SAs by filling out a questionnaire, which can yield a gender-biased response. Based on gender experience, males and females have different thoughts of perceived self-body image. Gender directly affects both item and factor level responses on tools assessing the risk for eating disorders among athletes, but assessment tools can be altered to obtain risk score regardless of gender (Gallagher, et al., 2021).

Signs and symptoms of eating disorders differ from men and women. Men may portray external symptoms such as binge-drinking, anger, or irritability, whereas women typically encounter internal symptoms (ex. anxiety & depression). Eating pathology may also follow similar differences between male and females based on the pressure of maintaining body image (Needham & Hill, 2010; Gallagher, et al., 2021).

Although athletes in general are at risk for developing eating disorders, there are specific risk factors that apply to both males and females. Identified by research, a major risk factor for developing eating disorders among males is athletic goals, whereas young women involved in exercise are identified as a high-risk group (De Souza et al., 2014; Gallagher, et al., 2021). Sports requiring weight-based performance such as wrestling, running, and gymnastics among others put both male and female athletes at an equally elevated risk (Andersen, et al., 1995; Gallagher, et al., 2021). The best way to address eating disorders among SAs is to have nutritional support services readily available within the athletic community to meet the needs of athletes.

Help-Seeking Behavior by Student Athletes for Mental Health Concerns

Individuals experiencing stress address the situation with a certain coping mechanism. Coping strategies can vary from confrontation and problem solving to avoidance of the situation. Nonetheless, positive coping strategies, such as problem solving, are associated with more positive outcomes (Eisenberg, Golberstein & Gollust, 2007; Kroshus, 2017). When it comes to
sports, athletes who demonstrate positive coping skills may also have a more positive mental outlook on challenging situations. Rather than viewing challenges negatively, individuals in sports who have positive coping mechanisms may view challenges as an opportunity for growth and improvement, which also makes the athlete more likely to seek professional help when facing symptoms of mental health (Kroshus, 2017).

When it comes to help-seeking behavior, SAs may face more challenging barriers than non-athlete college students, including greater MH stigma when compared to non-athlete students and the perception that they will be less likely to perform well (Kaier, Johnson, & Strunk, 2015; Kroshus, 2017). This may be related to the stigma that athletes are viewed as 'mentally tough.' A recent systematic review analyses on health-seeking behaviors among SAs found stigma to be a large contributing barrier to athletes seeking clinical treatment for MH (Anchuri, et al., 2020). Along with social stigma, SAs also face barriers such as time restriction due to busy training schedules, fear of consequences for seeking MH treatment, and lack of knowledge of available resources. These existing barriers that impede SAs to seek appropriate treatment can have significant detrimental outcomes on an athlete's well-being, performance (academic & athletic), and overall quality of life (Edwards, et al., 2021).

Resilience, mental toughness, and masculinity are all perceived mental components of athletes. Sport psychology defines resilience as a personal protectant behavior from potential negative outcomes of stress, whereas masculinity used as a definition in sport, is considered self-resilience and the ability to play through pain (Fletcher & Sarkar, 2013; Kroshus, 2017; Vella, et al., 2021). Athletes who conform to these beliefs are less likely to seek professional MH treatment (Steinfeldt, Steinfeldt, England, & Speight, 2009; Kroshus, 2017).

Although athletes face many barriers, being involved in a sport has been proven to facilitate positive coping skills through teamwork, self-reliance, and routine exposure to challenges. Positive psychological coping mechanisms may assist athletes in having a more positive attitude towards seeking professional help when experiencing psychological distress. Being a part of a sports team puts athletes at a higher risk of facing stressful challenges such as team conflict, injury, and competitive loss. Facing these challenges provides athletes with the opportunity to use different coping skills in response to social and environmental demands. It is possible that athletes who have been taught positive coping skills through their sport experience may be able to handle stressful situations and challenges in a positive approach, which may also help them to identify seeking professional mental health treatment as a supportive growth rather than viewing it as a failure (Kroshus, 2017).

Interventions should be implemented at universities to assist SAs in learning positive and healthy coping strategies and mental health prevention. Considering an athlete's compact schedule during competitive season, interventions such as a mental skills course could be implemented during off-season. A systematic review that assessed coping mechanisms among SAs found that athletes use both successful and unsuccessful coping mechanisms to cope with challenges unrelated to sport performance (Fogaca, 2021). Interventions and education provided to athletes on positive coping skills may offer a benefit for athletes coping skills both on and off the field. A study implemented an intervention to improve SA performance and MH by providing education on positive coping skills and increasing social support within the athletic environment. Study findings proved these interventions to have an improvement on both coping skills and anxiety among SAs. Providing methods to improve both MH and performance during

MH skills training sessions may also help athletes be more open-minded to MH interventions (Fogaca, 2021).

SAs may be more apt to approach their coaches, teammates, or athletic trainers (ATs) about MH concerns before they seek clinical professional psychological help. SAs have voiced concerns that MH providers on campus may not fully understand the barriers athletes face, such as performance pressure (Anchuri, et al., 2020). Thus, it is important for athletic staff and team members to be aware of available MH resources and offer social support. A quasi-experimental study assessed the mental health (depression, anxiety, & well-being) of 88 SAs belonging to five different sports teams of a U.S. university. The study implemented an intervention among the SAs, coaches, and team captains to improve mental skills on coping, performance, and stress. Results proved the intervention improved mental skills and decreased levels of anxiety among SAs (Fogaca, 2021). Social support from multidimensional levels can improve the overall well-being of SAs.

Along with social factors, personal factors also impact an athlete's willingness to seek help. Growth mindset (GM) is a personal factor that is found to be directly related to sport, academic, and social relationship outcomes. GM has also been proven to help individuals cope with stress and adapt to challenges. GM is an example of a mental skill that would be beneficial to educate SA on, along with positive self-talk, mindfulness, and relaxed breathing techniques (Fogaca, 2021).

Health literacy among SAs may impact their likelihood to seek professional help when experiencing MH illness. Health literacy is the ability to understand medical information. Increased levels of health literacy can facilitate improved health knowledge which results in decreased negative health behaviors and outcomes. A study conducted to assess health literacy

among SAs and non-athlete college students at DI, DII, and DIII NCAA universities found that there were lower levels of functional and communicative health literacy among SAs compared to their non-athlete peers. While this study showed low health literacy among SAs, it should be noted that NCAA DI athletes may be at a higher advantage compared to DII and DIII level athletes to receive access to health services which may overall improve health literacy among DI athletes (Beasley, Hoffman, & Andelin, 2021). Improving health literacy among SAs may overall improve their help-seeking behaviors. It is especially important for health care providers, coaches, and administrative staff to consider this relationship.

Although health status is important to SAs, a sport-first mindset often clouds an athlete's decision to willingly seek professional psychological help. A sport-first mindset can be defined as an athlete's belief that athletic performance and success trumps overall health and mental well-being (Moore et al., 2018; Beasley, Hoffman, & Andelin, 2021). In efforts to protect SAs, the NCAA mandates a 20 hour per week in-season limit for DI athletes. Despite these rules, SAs have reported spending up to 40 hours a week taking part in sport-related activities (Beasley, Hoffman, & Andelin, 2021). The support and services SAs seek out for psychological help may also feed into the sport-first mindset. Sport psychologists and performance coaches focus on enhancing an athlete's performance and clinical pathology, whereas social work and primary healthcare providers focus on a holistic approach with integrative clinical assessment and interventions (Dean & Rowan, 2014; Gant, et al., 2009; Beasley, Hoffman, & Andelin, 2021).

Some SAs may not be aware of how stress affects them. Being unaware of psychological concerns may result in a form of dysfunction which alters the athlete's well-being and may appear in the form of acting out nonverbally (Neal, et al., 2013). To assist athletes in identifying MH concerns, an individual approach may offer specific benefits compared to a group-based

approach. Programs focused on individual improvement can help athletes identify personal goals and obtain the necessary skills to achieve them (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019). Individual ways to identify MH concerns and implement coping strategies may include journaling, physical exercise, deep breathing, self-care, healthy sleep habits, music therapy, and following a daily routine (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

While the individual approach may be beneficial to some SAs, a team-based approach may be preferred by others. Team-based training should be specific to sport type and athletic level (junior vs. senior athletes). These programs should education athletes on MH risk factors, signs and symptoms of MH concerns, MH resources available, and psychological distress coping methods (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019).

Internal and external social support groups are critical in helping guide help-seeking behavior among SAs. Internal support groups include individuals such as coaches, teammates, ATs, nutritionists, counselors, and sports psychologists, whereas external support groups consist of family, friends, and personal services. While SAs have reported these support groups to be helpful resources, NCAA institutions need to increase awareness of available resources on campus in hopes to decrease MH stigma and increase the utilization of health services by SAs (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

Mental Health Literacy Among Coaches

One definition of health literacy defines it as "one's ability to access, understand, critically assess, and apply health information in personal health decisions" (Chinn, 2011; Sorenson et al., 2012; Beasley, Hoffman, & Andelin, 2021). While another definition refers to health literacy as an individual's personal knowledge and beliefs on MH that help recognize, manage, and prevent MH disorders (Jorm, 2012; Vella, et al., 2021). Assessing health literacy

among athletic staff including trainers and coaches may improve MH awareness and support among SAs.

SAs are more likely to seek psychological help in a non-stigmatized environment facilitated by coaches (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019). Coaches have an authoritative role which has a large impact on SAs in general. Coaches are a key figure in creating a supportive athletic environment due to their role and responsibility of caring for and interacting with athletes, even more importantly for young athletes who build trusting relationships with their coaches. Therefore, a coach may be the first individual to whom SAs with MH concerns go to for guidance. It is encouraging that research shows an increasing recognition of the impact coaches have on adolescents MH by recognizing signs and symptoms of concern and encouraging a positive MH environment (Duffy, Rooney, & Matthews, 2021).

Research findings support coaches and trainers who are educated on signs of psychological distress in SAs are more comfortable addressing athletes about the need to seek help for treatment (Anchuri, et al., 2020). Coaches who are educated on MH and offer a supportive environment are recognized by SAs. Mental health literacy has been shown to be a key factor athletes consider prior to speaking to their coaches about personal MH concerns (Swann et al., 2018; Duffy, Rooney, & Matthews, 2021). One study found that athletes felt supported when their coach addressed MH in a group setting including their teammates (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022). Quite possibly, coaches who have personal experiences with MH may offer a more understanding viewpoint on MH illness.

Coaches perceived sport-first mindset and expectations that athletes should have strong mental components of MT and resilience provide a harmful environment for SAs. A study that assessed MH support from coaches and staff among SAs found athletes reported both positive

and negative experiences. The negative experiences came from coaches who had outdated coaching techniques that included untrustworthy and disrespectful coaching characteristics, punishing athletes in the form of excessive exercise to improve motivation, and providing lack of support for athletes during injuries, making SAs less likely to seek MH help. Research has also found expectations coaches make such as startling line ups, rosters, body image, and performance expectations cause fear and anxiety among SAs (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

Coaches with developed role efficacy may be more likely to be approached by SAs with MH concerns. Role efficacy is an "individuals' confidence in his or her capabilities to carry out a particular task or behavior" (McAllister et al., 2007; Duffy, Rooney, & Matthews, 2021). Behaviors among coaches that are consistent with role efficacy include clear instruction, reinforcement, and portraying role model behaviors. These traits may help decrease perceived coach stigma and lower MH issues among SAs (Kroshus, 2017). A study assessing mental health literacy and role perceptions among coaches found that improving education, competence, and beliefs among coaches may encourage them to engage in supportive behaviors on MH issues (Duffy, Rooney, & Matthews, 2021).

Becoming culturally competent will help assist coaches to provide supportive measures against MH identification, prevention, and treatment. Being culturally competent includes awareness of an individual's cultural, personal, and environmental factors (Gorczynski, et al., 2021). In order to improve MH among SAs, coaches, sport organizations, athletic staff, and MH providers need to portray culturally competent behaviors. Sport organizations are responsible for ensuring cultural competence among staff members and forming a process for providing MH resources and services to all athletes (Betancourt, et al., 2003; Gorczynski, et al., 2021).

Coaches and trainers encounter the most interactions with athletes, making them more likely to be the first to identify MH concerns in SAs. Problematic behaviors are often recognized by sports personnel due to regular interactions with SAs (De Souza, et al., 2021). As a result of being the first to recognize signs and symptoms, coaches and trainers are in a prime position to guide SAs to seek professional MH services (Anchuri, et al., 2020).

With ATs being one of the most likely athletic staff members to recognize early signs and symptoms of MH concerns, in 2013 the National Athletic Training Association (NATA) created a consensus statement regarding best practices for identifying and managing MH concerns among college SAs. This consensus statement creates an avenue for ATs to act as a resource and identify MH concerns among SAs by utilizing pre-participation physical exams and tactics to address MH in SAs who may be showing signs of distress (Neal, et al., 2015; Edwards, et al., 2021). The consensus statement created by the NATA was used as the foundation for the Mental Health Best Practice guidelines created by the NCAA in 2016 (Edwards, et al., 2021).

The most successful way to prevent, identify, and treat MH among SAs is to bring awareness to coaches, athletic staff, and other medical professionals (ex. clinical & sport psychologists). With a better understanding of risk factors (ex. sleep disturbance, substance abuse, and aggressive behaviors) that can evolve from MH illness in athletes, early identification by sports and professional personnel may offer better health outcomes for SAs and lower the prevalence of MH among athletes in general (De Souza, et al., 2021). A SA should be referred to professional help as soon as possible if they seek help from individual peers such as friends, family, coaches, or trainers. Sports medicine and MH professionals play a pertinent role in diagnosing MH disorders in a timely manner among SAs to ensure proper management and follow-up (Gouttebarge, et al., 2019).

To help destigmatize MH among SAs, coaches should speak more openly on the matter. Implementing health literacy programs on university campuses may assist athletic and organizational staff in creating an environment that supports MH and well-being of SAs (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019). Additional programs and evaluations would be beneficial in understanding how to best support coaches in creating an environment that supports MH seeking behaviors from SAs, both directly and indirectly (Kroshus, 2017). Purcell, Gwyther, and Rice (2019) propose that a peer workforce approach may be beneficial in normalizing and promoting MH among SAs. An example of this would be the involvement of coaches and former athletes discussing experiences of MH concerns with current athletes.

Interventions for mental health literacy need to take place on both individual and organizational levels. A study involving elite athletes found that 65% of participating athletes reported feelings of support and positive experiences with coaches and athletic staff who encouraged MH support and services. Researchers view that to be a step in the right direction for improving mental health literacy in the SA population (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022). Improving health literacy among coaches will improve their ability to identify MH concerns early, offer support, and refer SAs to the appropriate MH professionals for further evaluation and treatment (Duffy, Rooney, & Matthews, 2021).

Providing Mental Health Screening: SMHAT-1 Screening Tool

Assessing MH among SAs frequently throughout the competition period may be necessary in identifying early signs of MH concerns and facilitate treatment and prevent negative outcomes. The main limitation found in numerous research studies assessing MH among elite athletes was the use of multiple assessment tools that were not developed or validated specifically for athletes (Gouttebarge, et al., 2019). In response to the lack of validated MH

screening tools specific to the elite athlete population, the IOC created the SMHAT-1 screening tool. This tool was developed to facilitate early identification and promote help-seeking behaviors among elite athletes who are at risk for or currently experiencing MH symptoms. The tool was created to be used by coaches, athletic staff, and other health care professionals to assess MH among elite athletes. The goal of this tool is early identification of MH symptoms in elite athletes to facilitate a timely referral for athletes who need additional support and treatment (Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

The tool should ideally be used multiple times throughout an athlete's competitive season to ensure early identification of MH concerns. Literature identifies the most critical time to screen athletes for MH concerns are the following: post injury/illness, pre and post competition period, transition into and out of sport career, after an adverse life event, and if there is suspicion for harassment or abuse (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

In an effort to create a MH screening tool specific to elite athletes, scientific literature was reviewed regarding mental illness in elite athletes assessing: MH viewpoints from current and former elite athletes, reviewing objectives, the approach of current screening tools and their content, and assessing the reliability and validity of assessment tools already being used in practice. Along with reviewing current literature, the IOC conducted systematic and narrative reviews on the prevalence, screening, diagnosis, and treatment of MH signs and disorders among elite athletes (Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

During the creation of the SMHAT-1 tool, the IOC received input from numerous involved experts trained in MH. These participants have special skills, training, and experience with sports medicine, psychiatry and psychometrics, and elite sports who used preexisting MH screening and assessment tools used in elite sports to help form the SMHAT-1 tool. The

appropriateness of the SMHAT-1 tool was explored by sports medicine physicians, and reliability and validity of the tool was established after testing in professional football players (Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

The SMHAT-1 tool involves three steps to assessing MH among elite athletes. These steps include (1) triage, (2) screening, and (3) reassessment and intervention. The triage step was created using an already existing validated screening tool: Athlete Psychological Strain Questionnaire (APSQ), whereas the screening step also consists of six existing validated screening tools: General Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7), Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), Cutdown, Annoyed, Guilty, Eye-opener Adapted to Include Drugs (CAGE-AID), Brief Eating Disorder in Athletes Questionnaire (BEDA-Q), Alcohol Use Disorder Identification Test Consumption (AUDIT-C) and Autism Spectrum Screening Questionnaire (ASSQ). Considering step two of the screening tool is used for clinical assessment of MH disorders, this portion of the SMHAT-1 tool must be conducted by licensed MH professionals. A positive response was noted, with 73% of the experts involved in the creation of the SMHAT-1, rated the screening tools included within the SMHAT-1 tool to be very appropriate (Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

Step one identifies an athlete's score on the APSQ. The APSQ consists of ten brief selfreporting questions that help identify psychological stress in athletes. The questionnaire score ranges from 10-50, with a score >17 indicating a higher risk for experiencing psychological distress (Rice, et al., 2020; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021). The APSQ has been validated by a large sample size of elite male and female athletes and is undergoing further evaluation and validation among junior athletes (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019).

Step two includes six assessment tools to clinically assess and differentiate MH risks and disorders. One of the most prevalent MH disorders among the general population is GAD with

current prevalence of 2.8% to 8.5% (Olfson, et al., 1997; Spitzer, Kroenke, Williams, & Lowe, 2006; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021). To best assess GAD in medical practice, the GAD-7 is a commonly used assessment tool. The tool is valid and efficient in screening for and assessing the severity of GAD in research and clinical practice. The GAD-7 assessment tool was found to have good reliability and validity with 89% sensitivity and 82% specificity after a study including 2740 adult patients was conducted in 15 primary care clinics in the U.S. from November of 2004 to June of 2005; the internal consistency of the assessment tool was excellent with a Cronbach alpha score of 0.92 which is indicative of good procedural validity (Spitzer, Kroenke, Williams, & Lowe, 2006; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

The second screening tool included in step two of the SMHAT-1 tool is the PHQ-9 which assesses the risk for depression among individuals. The PHQ-9 not only assess the risk for depression but also the severity of depression present among individuals by scoring nine criteria from the DSM-IV, making this screening tool useful in the clinical setting and for research. The tool assesses the severity of depression by the indicated scores of five (mild), ten (moderate), fifteen (moderately severe), and twenty (severe). Based on the mental health professional review of the PHQ-9, a score \geq 10 had an 88% sensitivity and 88% specificity for major depression (Kroenke, Spitzer, & Williams, 2001; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021). Respectively, the PHQ-9 does not detect all MH disorders. Therefore, if clinicians suspect that an individual has false-negative PHQ-9 results, additional questions should be asked to further assess the individuals MH symptoms (Spitzer, Kroenke, & Williams, 1999; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

The CAGE-AID is the third screening tool used in step two of the SMHAT-1 to assess substance abuse among elite athletes. The CAGE questionnaire was adapted for use in the SMHAT-1 tool by removing the alcohol assessment component (assessed with the AUDIT-C

questionnaire) and including additional questions to identify which substance was used (Gouttebarge, et al., 2021). Research identifies the CAGE questionnaire to be a valid screening tool with 80-95% reliability. Despite the high reliability of the tool, its use for assessing less severe forms of substance use may not be appropriate due to poor result findings on studies that included college students, women, and pregnant women (Dhalla & Kopec, 2007).

Separate from substance use and abuse screening is the AUDIT-C screening form associated with step two of the SMHAT-1 tool. This screening tool is used solely to assess alcohol consumption among elite athletes. Risk drinking is defined as the consumption of >14 alcoholic drinks per week or >4 drinks in a single day for men, and >7 drinks per week or >3 drinks daily for women. The AUDIT-C is useful in screening for alcohol use disorders and risk of drinking. The AUDIT-C contains multiple cut points for both men and women. Which improves its specificity and sensitivity (Dawson, Grant, Stinson, & Zhou, 2006; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021). Overall, the use of the AUDIT-C screening tool is becoming more common for identifying alcohol risks, usage, disorders.

The BEDA-Q questionnaire is included within the second step of the SMHAT-1 to assess eating disorders among elite athletes. The early identification and treatment of eating disorders among athletes has been recognized by numerous sport organizations including the NCAA, IOC, and American College of Sports Medicine just to name a few. The BEDA-Q screening tool was developed in response to the need for additional research on eating disorder screening tools used specifically among elite athletes at different competitive levels. The initial study of the development and implementation of the BEDA-Q included female high school athlete participants. Results found a 95% confidence interval for identifying athletes with and without eating disorders and a 98% confidence interval in predicting new cases, indicating a good ability to identify eating disorders in athletes (Martinson, et al., 2014). Limitations to using the BEDA-Q includes lack of research studies using this screening tool on male athletes, and lack of research studies using this screening tool specifically on elite athletes.

The sixth and final screening tool used in step two of the SMHAT-1 is the ASSQ. This screening tool is included to assess sleep quality among elite athletes. Sleep is a critical component in facilitating recovery from physical and mental demands of elite athletes, and research has found that elite athletes are at an increased risk for poor sleep quality (Samuels, 2009). Because of the increased prevalence of sleep disorders among elite athletes, it is crucial to identify signs and symptoms by using valid screening tools. Using reliable and valid screening questionnaires allows for early intervention if necessary and can also differentiate between individuals who may require education rather than interventions. The ASSQ was specifically designed to assess sleep disturbance and daytime dysfunction in athletes and provide interventions depending on severity and type of sleep disturbance issue (Samuels, James, Lawson, & Meeuwisse, 2016; Bender, Lawson, Werthner, & Samuels, 2018; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021). Research has found the ASSQ to have an 81% diagnostic sensitivity and 93% specificity. The ASSQ is easy to administer by athletic staff and is quick to complete for athletes. The psychometric properties of this tool strongly indicate the ASSQ can detect sleep disturbances that are clinically meaningful for elite athletes (Bender, Lawson, Werthner, & Samuels, 2018; Gouttebarge, et al., 2021). With routine screening for sleep disturbances, athletes may have improved overall MH and performance outcomes.

Although the SMHAT-1 tool is designed with validated and reliable screening tools to assess MH in elite athletes, there are limitations in using this tool that should be further assessed in research. These limitations include self-reported information, which may alter the accuracy of

independent athletes scores. Some of the validated screening tools within the SMHAT-1 tool have not been validated specifically on the athlete population. The triage portion of the SMHAT-1 is dependent upon the result score of the APSQ, which does not have a 100% rate of specificity or sensitivity. Finally, referrals to psychologists or psychiatrists may not always be possible. Because of these limitations, the IOC recommends further research studies should be conducted to validate the SMHAT-1 tool among athletes from multiple sports and cultures. The SMHAT-1 tool is the first version used to identify MH risks, symptoms, and disorders among elite athletes. Therefore, further research studies may help aid the IOC in revising the SMHAT-1 tool as needed for future use to continue to provide elite athletes with MH support (Gouttebarge, et al., 2021).

Summary and Research Gaps

There is an increased prevalence of MH risk factors and disorders among SAs. Despite these research findings, MH identification and treatment continues to be a concern among the SA population. Efforts to reduce MH symptoms, disorders, and stigma and increase MH awareness among athletes may increase help-seeking behaviors and improve competitive and academic performance as well as overall quality of life and well-being (Edwards, et al., 2021). Normalizing MH and bringing awareness to this endemic needs to include improving mental HL among coaches, athletic staff members, and healthcare professionals.

With the increasing awareness of MH among elite athletes, multiple sports organizations are getting involved to provide better outcomes for athletes. The IOC in its most recent consensus statement provides an analysis of and recommendations for treatment of complex and highly prevalent MH disorders among elite athletes. The purpose of this consensus statement is to serve as a resource to help guide and improve clinical management of athletes by healthcare

professionals (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019). Along with the IOC, the NCAA also has mental health best practice guidelines to promote MH awareness among collegiate athletes in the U.S.

Along with sport organizations, many colleges and universities worldwide have recognized the importance of prevention, early identification, and early treatment goals for MH disorders in athletes. In response to recognizing this important need, many campuses now offer MH services both on and off campus to proactively offer prevention measures for both SAs and non-athlete students (Edwards, et al. 2021). Hopefully in the near future, research will show an improvement in MH and help-seeking behaviors among SAs as a reflection of the increased number of policies, procedures, and guidelines in place to support athletes.

These prevention guidelines are necessary to aid in decreasing MH prevalence among elite athletes. Preventing strategies that have a multi-step approach reduce the development of MH symptoms and help minimize the impact or severity symptoms may have on an individual. The early identification and treatment stages assist in identifying MH concerns and preventing progression of symptoms. The continuing management and care stages aid individuals to recovery relapse prevention, usually involving MH professionals (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019).

Recent research has found that nearly two-thirds of ATs employed at NCAA institutions follow a routine MH emergency policy. Of these MH policies, 100% required further evaluation of the patient or treatment regimen. 33% of the policies had a procedure in place for referring SAs who are identified at risk for developing MH symptoms, and 64% of the policies did not have a written procedure in place for managing SAs with active thoughts of suicide (Young, Neil, Eberman, Armstrong, & Winkelmann, 2022).

Although numerous recent studies examine the prevalence of MH disorders among SAs, there continues to be major gaps in help-seeking behaviors, delivery of services and treatment measures. Implying creative and effective education measures for both SAs, administration staff, and athletic staff to early identify and intervene early with MH symptoms may help form a positive culture that acknowledges MH is equally as important as physical health. Good MH contributes to an athlete's overall performance, well-being, and quality of life (Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice, 2019). Implementing MH screening at recommended times throughout an athlete's competitive season along with addressing MH stigma from a top-down approach may offer early identification and treatment of MH concerns among SAs.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

Overall Project Design

A quality improvement design was used to evaluate the feasibility and utility of assessing mental health concerns among SA's on the University's track and field team pre- and mid-competitive season. The track and field SA's, team coaches and athletic staff were invited to attend an educational session that provided information on the importance of screening for mental health. Baseline data was collected prior to the start of the 2023-2024 indoor track and field season. Follow-up data was collected during the mid-indoor 2023-2024 competitive season to assess for changes or new MH concerns among the athletes throughout the season. The same assessment tool and demographics were used for both the pre- and mid-season to evaluate MH concerns.

Implementation Plan

Prior to the start of the 2023-2024 indoor track and field season, SA's, team coaches and athletic staff were invited to attend an educational session that took place in August 2023 on the university's campus. The session offered information about the prevalence of MH issues among SA's and the importance of screening for MH concerns among SA's, resources available on and off campus to athletes and athletic staff, and an explanation of the SMHAT-1 screening tool.

Following the educational session, SA's were invited to complete the SMHAT-1 tool in the form of a Qualtrics survey for the collection of baseline data prior to the start of their indoor training season. The survey was distributed via email and by QR code. The athletes were given two weeks to complete the survey. The same Qualtrics survey was sent to SAs via email a second time in December of 2023 to collect follow-up data during the mid-competition season. Athletes were given the first two weeks of December 2023 to complete the final survey. Follow-

up emails were sent by an outside source four, seven, and fourteen days after the survey became available to the SA's as a reminder to complete the survey within the 14-day window if the SA desired to do so. Once the data was collected, the track and field coaches and athletic staff were invited to attend a final session where the survey results were presented in an aggregate form. This session was held on the university campus in January 2024.

Setting

The project was implemented at a large, land-grand university in the Midwest. The university is accredited by the Higher Learning Commission that focuses on students, land grants, and research. It offers nearly 250 academic programs and promotes advanced learning opportunities by offering master's, doctoral, and certificate degrees. The university is home to fourteen intercollegiate Division I sports teams affiliated with the NCAA and is partnered with local sponsors to offer 17 different sport facilities utilized by the university's athletic teams and the local community.

Sample/Recruitment

After IRB approval in August 2023, a convenience sample of track and field SA's were invited to participate in the project. SA's that participate in track and field events begin indoor season practice the first week of September. Competition events start as early as October. The indoor season intercorrelates with the outdoor season beginning in February. The outdoor season goes until May, although students who qualify for post-season competitions may compete into the month of June.

Track and field athletes on the 2023-2024 season roster were invited to complete the Qualtrics survey. This included 55 male and 61 female SA's. To meet inclusion criteria, athletes had to be currently enrolled as a student at the university. This includes freshmen, sophomore,

junior, and senior students. Athletes who were academically ineligible to participate in their sport were still invited to complete the survey. Athletes who were nursing an injury were encouraged to participate in the survey. Athletes who were already utilizing mental health resources were also invited to complete the survey. Exclusion criteria includes student athletes who are not a member of the track and field team.

Evidence-Based Project Interventions

An educational session was held on campus for the track and field SA's in August 2023. Information was provided via verbal presentation by the researcher. The session introduced the DNP dissertation project, SMHAT-1 screening tool, the importance of MH screening among SA's, and MH resources available to SA's both on and off campus were discussed at that time. A Qualtrics survey assessing MH among the athletes was made available post education session.

The first Qualtrics survey was distributed to the SA's via email and by QR code the last week of August 2023. Athletes who chose to complete the survey were prompted to answer ten questions in the first step of the assessment tool to assess the overall MH of the athlete within the last 30 days. These ten questions were answered on a scale 1-5. If the athlete scored <17, they will have completed the survey. If the score was >17, they were guided to complete step two of the evaluation tool which prompted the athlete to answer six sections of additional questions. The first section of step two included seven questions of the GAD-7 assessment tool to assess for anxiety symptoms over the last two weeks. The second section included nine questions from the PHQ-9 questionnaire assessing for depressive symptoms within the last two weeks. Both the first and second section questions were answered on a scale 0-3. The third section included five questions of the ASSQ assessment tool assessing for sleep disorders. The first two questions of section three were answered on a scale 0-4. Questions 3-5 were answered on a scale 0-3. The

fourth and fifth section included eight combined questions of the AUDIT-C and CAGE-AID that assessed the risk for substance abuse. The three questions of the AUDIT-C were answered on a scale 0-4. The four questions of the CAGE-AID were answered as yes or no. Each question answered 'yes' received one point. At the end of section five, the athlete was asked to identify which substance(s) had caused concern in their life by selecting the substance option(s) in the table provided within the survey. There were 21 substances provided in the table for the athlete to choose from. The sixth section included the BEDA-Q questionnaire which consisted of nine questions assessing for eating disorders. Questions 1-6 were answered as never, rarely, sometimes, often, usually, and always. The answer 'often' was worth one point, 'usually' was worth two points, and 'always' was worth three points. Questions seven and eight were answered as yes or no. Question nine answer options were 1-2 times, 3-5 times, and >5 times. In total, the athlete completed 38 additional questions within step two of the Qualtrics survey. If an athlete scored under threshold for all six sections in step two, it was recommended that the athlete continue to be closely monitored by athletic staff or a mental health professional and may repeat step one of the SMHAT-1 tool if there are concerns for a change in MH within that individual athlete. If an athlete scored above threshold for any of the six additional screening tools within step two, it was recommended that the athlete complete step three of the Qualtrics survey, be referred to a mental health professional, and form a treatment plan. Regardless of the athlete's score and number of sections completed, upon completion of the survey there was a final comment stating, "if you are experiencing thoughts of self-harm or suicide, it is highly recommended that you follow up with a health care professional or a member of the athletic staff".

Step three within the Qualtrics survey included four additional sections to further assess the risk for specific MH disorders based on scoring from step one and two. The first section included six questions assessing for symptoms of ADHD. These six questions could be answered as never, rarely, sometimes, often, and very often. The second section included 18 questions assessing the risk for bipolar disorder. These 18 questions were answered as yes or no. The third section included eight questions assessing for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Seven of these questions were answered as yes or no. One question when assessing for PTSD could be answered as inside, outside, or both. The fourth section included nine questions assessing the risk for a gambling addiction. These questions were answered as never, sometimes, most of the time, and almost always. The fifth section contained 16 questions assessing for psychosis. These questions were answered as true or false. For every question answered as 'true', the athlete was prompted to give another answer of none, mild, moderate, or severe. In total, the SA will have answered 57 additional questions in the third step of the survey. As previously stated, if an athlete is prompted to complete step three of the Qualtrics survey, it is highly recommended they seek care from a mental health specialist for close follow-up.

The same Qualtrics survey was redistributed via email to the track and field SAs who agreed to complete the mid-season survey and meet inclusion criteria by mid-indoor competition season. The timeframe for the second survey to be completed was the first two weeks of December 2023. The significance of the second survey was to evaluate for a change in MH among the SA's from pre-season to mid-season of indoor competition. Once the pre- and midseason surveys had been completed, the results were analyzed and disseminated to the University's track and field coaches and athletic trainer in an aggregated form. The results of the project were presented to the athletic staff via verbal presentation. The final results determined

the recommendation to use the SMHAT-1 tool to assess MH in SA's attending the university in future sport seasons.

Evaluation/Outcomes/Data Analysis

The outcome of this quality improvement project was determinant on the results of the pre-season and mid-season surveys. After holding an educational session with the SA's in August 2023 to provide information on the importance of this project, the goal was that 100% of the SA's who met eligible requirements would participate in the Qualtrics surveys. Assessing for change in MH among SA's when comparing pre-season survey results to mid-season survey results helped guide future recommendations on using the SMHAT-1 tool in athletics.

Once the results of both surveys were collected, the results were analyzed by the researcher. The recommendation to use the SMHAT-1 tool to assess for MH changes in SAs throughout the sport season was to be determined by project findings. Recommendations considered were administering the screening tool pre-season, mid-season, post-season, after injury or adverse life event, or if other concerns arise based on an athletes change in behavior.

Figure 3

OAE Table

Objectives	Activities	Evaluation
Hold an educational session with the University's track and field student athletes prior to the start of their sport season.	Hold an education session for track and field student athletes with PowerPoint presentation.	All track and field student athletes will participate in the Qualtrics survey
Administer the SMHAT-1 tool to assess the mental health among Division I collegiate athletes participating in track and field events at a Midwest University before the start (pre-season) of their indoor competitive season and half- way through (mid-season) their competitive indoor season to evaluate for changes in mental health.	Administer Qualtrics survey via email to all track and field student athlete's pre- and mid-indoor season.	Results of Qualtrics survey
Disseminate mental health survey analysis findings with the University's track and field coaches and athletic staff.	Disseminate Qualtrics survey results to the University's track and field coaches and athletic staff via email.	Ongoing study, athletic staff may opt to utilize SMHAT- 1 screening tool in future sport seasons.

Figure 4

Project Goals: Identify Division 1 college athletes on the track and field team who are at risk for or currently experiencing MH symptoms, provide on-campus MH resources to student athletes, and bring awareness to coaches and athletic staff.

Objective One: Introduce the importance of mental health screening to the University's track and field student athletes prior to the start of the indoor season.

Objective Two: Administer the SMHAT-1 tool to assess the mental health among Division I collegiate athletes participating in track and field events at a Midwest University before the start (pre-season) of their indoor competitive season and half-way through (mid-season) their competitive indoor season to evaluate for changes in mental health.

Objective Three: Disseminate mental health survey analysis findings with the University's track and field coaches and athletic staff.

			Outcomes	
Inputs	Activities	Outputs	Short	Medium/Long
 IRB approval 		 Completed 	 Improved overall 	 Develop a network of
 Education/Implem 	Collaboration with track	Qualtrics survey (pre-	MH in student	MH resources supported
entation	and field team for	and mid-sports	athletes on the	by ongoing relationships
 The University's 	research collection	season)	University's track	between the University's
Student Health	Recruit student athletes	 Communication 	and field team	athletic staff, counseling
Services	to complete survey	through Zoom,	 Improved MH 	center, and student health
 The University's 	Develop presentation	phone, email between	awareness in SA's	center
counseling center	content	coaches/AT's/project	and athletic staff	 Implement the use of
 Qualtrics tool and 	Offer educational session	committee/Qualtrics	 Enhanced 	the SMHAT-1 screening
support staff	via PowerPoint	expert/providers from	educational	tool within the athletic
 DNP committee 	presentation on MH for	counseling & student	opportunities and	community to screen for
 track and field 	student athletes, coaches,	health center	increased	MH among collegiate
student athletes	and athletic staff	 Completion of 	competency for ath	athletes
 track and field 	Develop and	PowerPoint	letic staff	 Increase overall mental
coaches/athletic	implement	Presentation for	 Increased 	health of student athletes
trainer/athletic	Qualtrics survey that	Track and Field team	knowledge of on-	 Increase MH awareness
staff	mirrors the questions on	prior to administering	campus MH	among coaches and
 SMHAT-1 Tool 	the SMHAT-1 tool	Qualtrics survey	resources for SA's	athletic staff
 Evidence-based 	Collect and report	Completion of	and athletic staff	 Increase confidence
best	mental health	disseminated research		among coaches and
practice/guidelines	concerns/symptoms	findings to athletic		athletic staff to identify
related to MH	Disseminate research	staff		MH
screening in	findings in an aggregated	 SA's, coaches, and 		concerns/signs/symptoms
athletes	form to coaches and	athletic staff are		in student athletes
 DNP student 	athletic staff to identify	aware of prevalence		 Increase confidence
	and improve MH among	of MH among SA's,		among coaches and
	student athletes	know s/s to identify,		athletic staff to identify
		and know resources		appropriate on-campus
		for referral		resources to refer SA's
		Improvement of MH		struggling with mental
		awareness through		health
		PDSA & health		 Earlier detection of MH
		promotion model		conditions among SA's
				 Improved MH outcomes
				among SA's

Conclusion

This project was guided by the steps of theoretical frameworks. The Health Promotion Model takes into consideration individual characteristics and experiences of individual SA's. It helps identify possible benefits, barriers, and influences SA's face when seeking help for MH concerns. By using this framework, the goal is that SA's who may be struggling with MH will seek help. The PDSA model was also used to implement this project. By following the steps within this model, a problem has been identified, a dissertation committee team has been formed, project objectives have been identified, and an extensive literature review has been conducted on the topic. The project was implemented August 2023. The results of the pre- and mid-season Qualtrics surveys were analyzed and recommendations on using the SMHAT-1 tool for future MH evaluation among SA's were determined. The overall goal of this project is early identification of MH concerns among SA's to facilitate appropriate treatment plan, referral, and follow-up.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

To measure objective one, track and field student athletes attended an educational session on campus after practice prior to the start of their competitive season. The researcher served as the spokesperson at the session and provided information to introduce the dissertation project, common mental health disorders among student athletes and the importance of mental health screening among Division I student athletes. After the session was complete, the student athletes completed the Qualtrics survey.

To determine the outcome for objective two, the SMHAT-1 tool was administered in the form of a Qualtrics survey both pre-season and mid-season to the track and field student athletes. The pre-season survey was administered to explore baseline mental health among the student athletes. The mid-season survey was administered to assess for any changes in mental health throughout the course of the competitive season. The results of the surveys were determined by the numerical value each student athlete scored on screening forms. Both surveys also included demographic information (see Appendix E for survey).

To measure objective three, the pre- and mid-season survey analysis findings were disseminated in an aggregate form to the University's track and field coaches and athletic trainer. The session was held on the University's campus. The athletic staff were invited to ask questions about the project and include any recommendations for future projects using the SMHAT-1 tool.

Table 1

Demographics of Participants

Sample	Pre-season		Mid-season		
Demographics	(n = 56)		(n = 32)		
	· ·		x	,	
Gender					
	20	35.7%	9	28.1%	
Male	36	64.3%	23	71.9%	
Female					
Level of education					
Freshman	25	44.6%	11	34.4%	
Sophomore	13	23.2%	10	31.3%	
Junior	6	10.7%	3	9.4%	
Senior	12	21.4%	8	25%	
Currently injured	9	16.1%	4	12.5%	
Currently					
academically	4	7.1%	1	3.1%	
ineligible to	·	,,	-	0.170	
narticinate in the					
snort					
sport	2	3.6%	0	0%	
Currently receiving	-	2.070	v	0.70	
MH treatment					
	0	0%	0	0%	
Currently utilizing	0	0 /0	U	0 /0	
MH resources					
1 11111C3UUIUC3					

Table 2

SAs Who Scored Above Threshold

	Pre-season		Mid-season	
	(n = 56)		(n = 32)	
APSQ- Psychological strain score >17	22	39.3%	16	50%
PHQ-9- Depression	3	5.4%	2	6.3%
GAD-7- Anxiety	5	8.9%	3	9.4%
ASSQ- sleep disorder	8	14.3%	9	28.1%
AUDIT-C- Alcohol consumption	7	10.7%	4	12.5%
CAGE-AID- Substance abuse	1	1.8%	0	0%
BEDA-Q- eating disorder	13	23.2%	8	25%

Table 3

Statistics of SAs Who Completed Both Pre- and Mid-season Surveys

Sample Demographics	Mean	(n = 20)			
Gender					
Male		5	25%		
Female		15	75%		
Level of Education					
Freshman		6	30%		
Sophomore		6	30%		
Junior		2	10%		
Senior		6	30%		
Currently Injured		5	25%		
Currently academically ineligible to pa	rticipate in the	3	15%		
sport					
Currently receiving MH treatment		0	0%		
Currently utilizing MH resources		1	5%		
		Ŧ	570		
Results of SA Scores Above Threshold					
Results of SFT Secres Froove Threshold					
APSQ- Psychological strain score >17		9	45%		
Pre-season	5.10				
Mid-season	8.85				
PHQ-9- Depression		0	0%		
Pre-season	1.10				
Mid-season	1.95				
GAD-7- Anxiety		2	10%		
Pre-season	1.75				
Mid-season	2.25				
ASSO- sleep disorder		5	25%		
Pre-season	1.25				
Mid-season	2.90				
AUDIT-C- Alcohol consumption		3	15%		
Pre-season	0.80				
Mid-season	0.90				
CAGE-AID- Substance abuse		0	0%		
Pre-season	0.00		-		
Mid-season	0.00				
BEDA-Q- eating disorder		7	35%		
Pre-season	1.40				
Mid-season	2.90				

Pre-season and Mid-season Psychological Measure Findings

Psychological Strain

Psychological strain increased from pre-season to mid-season survey results. Findings support 39% (22 out of 56) of student athletes scored at or above 17 on step one of the SMHAT-1 screening tool, the APSQ. Out of the 22 student athletes that scored at or above 17, there were nine freshman, seven sophomores, three juniors, and three senior students. Of the 22 students that scored at or above 17, there were 14 females and eight male students. Out of the 22 students, five students scored above threshold for one category, five students scored above threshold in two separate categories (ex. depression and anxiety), five students scored above threshold for three separate categories, two students scored above threshold for four separate categories, and two students scored above threshold for six separate categories. Out of the 22 students that scored at or above 17 on the APSQ, three students scored below threshold for all additional screening forms.

Mid-season results found that 50% (16 out of 32) of student athletes scored at or above 17 on the APSQ form. Out of the 16 student athletes that scored at or above 17, there were seven freshman, five sophomores, two juniors, and two senior students. Of these 16 students, 13 were females and three male students. Out of the 16 students, six students scored above threshold for one category, six students scored above threshold in two separate categories, one student scored above threshold in three separate categories, and two students scored above threshold for five separate categories. Out of the 16 students that scored at or above 17 on the APSQ, one student scored below threshold for all additional screening forms.

There were 20 student athletes who completed both the pre- and mid-season surveys. Out of these 20 students, four students scored greater than 17 on the APSQ questionnaire on both

surveys. Mid-season results found that three out of the four students had increased scores on the APSQ. One of the four students answered 'yes' to currently being injured. All four students scored above threshold in different categories on the mid-season survey when compared to the pre-season survey (ex. a student may have scored above threshold for depression on the pre-season survey but scored above threshold for sleep disorder on the mid-season survey and below threshold for depression).

Out of the 20 student athletes who took both surveys, there were four students who scored less than 17 on the pre-season APSQ but scored greater than 17 on the mid-season APSQ. One of these students answered 'yes' to being academically ineligible on the pre-season survey only. Another student answered 'yes' to being academically ineligible on the mid-season survey only.

Depression

PHQ-9 scoring was not significantly different form pre-season to mid-season. The preseason survey results found 5.4% (three of 56) students scored above threshold, meeting criteria for moderate depression. Mid-season survey results found 6.3% (two of 32) student athletes scored above threshold for depression. One of these students met criteria for moderate depression and one student met criteria for severe depression. The student who met criteria for severe depression was a female and a junior in college.

Anxiety

Anxiety was not significantly different among student athletes from pre-season to midseason. GAD-7 scoring results on the pre-season survey were 8.9% (five of 56) student athletes scored above threshold for anxiety. Four students met criteria for moderate anxiety and one student met criteria for severe anxiety. The student who met criteria for severe anxiety was a

male and a sophomore in college. The Mid-season survey findings were 9.4% (three of 32) student athletes scored above threshold for anxiety. Two students met criteria for moderate anxiety and one student met criteria for severe anxiety. The student who met criteria for severe anxiety was a female and a freshman in college.

Sleep Disturbance

There were no significant changes in sleep disorder findings when comparing pre-season and mid-season results. The pre-season survey found 14.3% (eight of 56) student athletes scored above threshold for sleep disorder. All eight of these athletes scored above threshold in multiple other categories. Mid-season survey results found 28.1% (nine of 32) student athletes scored above threshold for sleep disorder. Eight of these athletes scored above threshold in multiple other categories.

Out of 20 student athletes who took both the pre- and mid-season surveys, there were three students who met criteria for sleep disorder. All three students scored below threshold for sleep disorder on the pre-season ASSQ but scored above threshold on the mid-season ASSQ. All three student athletes were females.

Alcohol Misuse

Results of the pre-season and mid-season AUDIT-C questionnaire found no significant changes. The pre-season survey results found 10.7% (seven of 56) student athletes scored above threshold for alcohol abuse. Five of these seven athletes also scored above threshold in eating disorder. The mid-season survey results found 12.5% (four of 32) students scored above threshold for sleep disorder.

Drug Use

There were no significant findings on the pre-season results when compared to midseason results. Pre-season survey results found 1.8% (one of 56) student athletes scored above threshold for drug misuse. This one student listed stimulants-nicotine and cannabis-synthetics (k2, spice) as concerns in their life within the last three months. Mid-season results found zero students scored above threshold for drug misuse.

Disordered Eating

There were no clinically significant findings for eating disorders on the pre- and midsurvey results. Pre-season results found 23.2% (13 of 56) student athletes scored above threshold for eating disorder. Mid-season survey results found 25% (eight of 32) students above threshold for eating disorder. Out of 20 student athletes who completed both the pre- and mid-season surveys, there were three students who scored above threshold for eating disorder on mid-season survey only. One of these students also answered 'yes' to being academically ineligible. All three of these students were females.

Additional Screening Tools

The pre- and mid-season Qualtrics surveys included questions from additional screening tools found on the athletes form 3 of the SMHAT-1 tool. These additional screening tools assess for ADHD, bipolar disorder, PTSD, gambling addiction, and psychosis. Psychosis was unable to be assessed among the student athletes on both the pre- and mid-season surveys due to 13 questions not available on the Qualtrics survey. Both the pre- and mid-season survey results found zero students met criteria for gambling addiction.

There are no clinically significant changes from pre-season to mid-season results when screening for ADHD. Pre-season survey results found 10.7% (six of 56) student athletes had

symptoms highly consistent with ADHD by scoring greater than four on screening seven. Five of these students scored above threshold in multiple screening questionnaires. Mid-season survey results found 12.5% (four of 32) students scored greater than four on screening seven. Three of these athletes scored above threshold on multiple screening questionnaires.

There are no significant findings from pre-season to mid-season results on bipolar disorder screening. Results from the pre-season survey found 7.1% (four of 56) student athletes met criteria for bipolar disorder. All four students scored above threshold in multiple screening questionnaires. Mid-season survey results found 3.1% (one of 32) students met criteria for bipolar disorder.

Pre- and mid-season PTSD results were similar. Pre-season found 1.8% (one of 56) students who met criteria for PTSD. This one student answered 'yes' to having experienced a traumatic event in the past. Mid-season survey results found 3.1% (one of 32) students who met criteria for PTSD. This student answered 'yes' to having experienced a traumatic event in the past.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary

Student athletes on the track and field team from a large Midwestern university completed a pre-season and mid-season Qualtrics survey to assess their psychological strain prior to the competitive sport season and again halfway through (mid-season) their competitive sport season. Their MH was assessed by the numeric value each student scored on the screening forms. There were 56 out of a total of 116 SAs on the track and field team roster that completed the pre-season survey. On the pre-season survey, 22 out of 56 students scored greater than 17 on form one, the APSQ. These findings conclude that 39.3% of the athletes on the track and field team were experiencing high psychological strain prior to the start of their competitive season. A majority of these athletes were females and freshman in college. The SAs who scored greater than or equal to 17 on the APSQ were prompted to answer form two, relevant screening forms for depression, anxiety, disordered eating, alcohol misuse, drug abuse, sleep disorder, gambling, ADHD, PTSD, and bipolar disorder. Out of the 22 SAs who completed form two, 17 athletes scored above threshold on more than one screening form (ex. anxiety and depression).

Other findings from the pre-season survey include nearly half (four out of nine) of the students who answered 'yes' to currently being injured scored greater than 17 on the APSQ, indicating injury in sport may be directly linked to an increase in psychological strain among SAs. Four athletes answered 'yes' to being currently academically ineligible, all four students scored below 17 on form one. This may be indicative that academic eligibility may not put psychological strain on SAs. Two students answered 'yes' to currently receiving MH treatment, both students scored less than 17 on the APSQ which is indicative for low psychological strain.
Lastly, all students who completed the pre-season survey answered 'no' to currently utilizing MH resources (ex. student health services, counseling services, psychologist, etc.).

Findings from the mid-season survey were gathered from the results of the 32 out of a total of 116 SAs on the track and field team roster that completed the survey. Although there were fewer students who completed the mid-season survey, 16 out of 32 students (50%) scored above 17 on the APSQ, indicating higher psychological strain on SAs during mid-competition season. Comparable to the pre-season survey, a majority of the athletes who scored high on the mid-season APSQ were female students and freshman in college. Nine out of 16 students who scored high on the APSQ also scored above threshold on more than one screening form, putting them at risk for more than one MH disorder.

Other significant findings from the mid-season survey results include three out of four students who answered 'yes' to being currently injured scored greater than 17 on the APSQ. Again, this indicates that injury in sport may be directly linked to increased psychological strain. One student answered 'yes' to currently being academically ineligible to participate in sport, this student also scored greater than 17 on the APSQ. Surprisingly, zero students answered 'yes' to currently receiving MH treatment and zero students answered 'yes' to utilizing MH resources.

Comparing pre-season and mid-season results directly was poor due to a small sample size. There were 20 students who completed both the pre- and mid-season surveys. Of these 20 students, four (20%) scored less than 17 on the pre-season APSQ but scored above 17 on the mid-season APSQ, which may indicate that psychological strain is increased during mid-competition season. Three of the four students scored above threshold for sleep disorder on the mid-season survey only. Also, three of the four students scored above threshold for eating disorder on the mid-season survey only.

Discussion

Objective one was met by the attendance of the track and field team SAs at the educational session and the delivery of information regarding the dissertation project, common MH concerns among SAs, and mental health screening. The SAs were receptive to this information and received a hand-out with local MH resources. The SAs demonstrated their understanding of the importance of the project by completing the pre-season survey after the session had ended. Out of 116 total student athletes on the track and field roster, 48.3% (56 out of 116) students completed the pre-season survey, and 27.6% (32 out of 116) students completed the mid-season survey.

Objective two was met by the delivery of the surveys to the track and field athletes both pre- and mid-season and their response effort. The surveys were distributed to examine the psychological well-being of the SAs pre-competitive season and mid-season to identify if MH concerns rise over the course of the sport season. Resulted findings from objective two support the American College of Sports Medicine statistic; 35% of professional athletes suffer from MH disorders such as anxiety, depression, burnout, and eating disorders (ACSM, 2021). Results from this project found prior to the start of the competitive season, 39.3% (22 out of 56) SAs scored above threshold on the APSQ. On the mid-season survey, 50% (16 out of 32) SAs scored above threshold on the APSQ. Athletes who face psychological strain are at an increased risk for developing other mental health concerns.

Direct results comparison between pre- and mid-season surveys is weak considering the small sample size. There were 20 SAs who completed both the pre- and mid-season surveys, offering limited comparable results. Significant findings from these results alone were that four athletes who scored below threshold for psychological strain on the pre-season survey, scored

63

above threshold for psychological strain on the mid-season survey as evidence from their scores on the APSQ. This change amounts to 20% of the SAs during mid-season reporting increased psychological strain. These statistics are supported by Purcell, Gwyther, & Rice (2019) who explain that as athletes excel in the professional phase of their career, training demands and environmental factors influence their mental well-being.

Objective three was met by the attendance of the University's track and field athletic trainer and coaches during the delivery of survey results by the researcher. Members of the athletic staff were receptive to the project results and expressed gratitude for shedding light on the concern for mental well-being among the athletes. The response of the athletic staff is significant, considering SAs may be more apt to approach their coaches, teammates, or athletic trainers (ATs) about MH concerns before they seek clinical professional psychological help (Anchuri, et al., 2020).

Recommendations

Results from this project suggest further assessment of mental health among SAs over the course of their sport season may be warranted. Although there are no statistically significant changes in findings when comparing results from the pre- and mid-season survey screening forms, the small sample size made statistical analysis challenging. While not statistically significant, mental health assessment among elite SAs remains an important point of awareness. Athletic staff and primary healthcare providers should understand that many factors play a role in the mental well-being of an athlete, including performance success, academic success, self-image, team relationships, injury, adverse life events, and others. Schools affiliated with the NCAA should continue to abide by the NCAA constitution that mandates the reinforcement of physical and mental health within the athletic department by ensuring access to appropriate

resources that facilitate open engagement with respect to physical and mental health (NCAA, 2022). Offering a mental skills course among athletes may be beneficial in aiding SAs to identify thoughts of poor mental health and improve coping skills.

Screening for mental health among SAs should continue to be completed by athletic trainers, coaches, sports medicine providers, primary providers, and providers within the student health center on campus. It is important for individuals in these roles to understand that screening SAs for mental health concerns can be done any time throughout the sport season and that students may demonstrate increased risk for different mental health concerns throughout the season. The SMHAT-1 tool can help determine if an SA is at risk for mental health concerns specific to athletes by having the SA fill out form one on the screening tool. This tool can be administered on the sidelines, within the athletic department, or in a healthcare provider's office. The university's athletic staff should continue to discuss and provide mental health resources on orientation day for all athletes.

Regarding future projects, it may be beneficial for a graduate student in an athletic training program or in the DNP program to perform a similar project to further assess the validation of the SMHAT-1 tool. Over the course of this project, the track and field team's athletic trainer was a key player in communication and facilitating implementation of this project and served as a direct connection to the SAs. Overall, the project site offered a large heterogenous sample size.

Dissemination

Project findings were disseminated in aggregate form to the university's track and field coaches and athletic trainer. The researcher presented the results to the athletic staff via in-person presentation and paper handouts. The session was held on the university's campus.

65

The project was presented via poster presentation at the 2023 North Dakota Nurse Practitioner Association pharmacology conference. The IOC is encouraging more research to be completed utilizing the SMHAT-1 tool to assess mental health symptoms among athletes. There is a plan to submit this research project with associated findings to the IOC for review and possible publication through the IOC.

Strengths and Limitations

The results of this project should be interpreted with caution as several limitations exist. The IOC recommends using the SMHAT-1 tool throughout the course of an athlete's career and sport season. This is the first study completed disseminating the SMHAT-1 tool in a survey form and only during pre-season and mid-season. The pre-season responses equated to 48.3% with a significant decrease in responses for the mid-season survey, resulting in 27.6% of student athletes completing the survey. Normative findings were not available for most measures, considering the small sample size. The small sample size also equated to fewer athletes to fully assess.

This project was implemented solely with a track and field team; thus, the results may not be applicable to all student athletes of other sport teams. Ideally, comparing the project results to athletes of the same or different sports would provide more meaningful interpretation of the result findings. Participation retention for the mid-season survey may have been affected by the researcher not presenting in-person, and only announcing open dates for the mid-season survey via email. Considering students were experiencing higher academic and sport demands with finals week and scheduled competitions during the open dates of the mid-season survey, this may be evidence of lower response rates as well. Self-report bias also needs to be taken into consideration as a limitation within the student athlete population. Despite these limitations,

66

valuable data assessing mental health symptoms among athletes during the pre- and midcompetition season were collected. The SMHAT-1 tool was successfully distributed via Qualtrics survey form.

Conclusion

Considering the unique stressors athletes face, they are at an increased risk for mental health concerns. Nurse practitioners play a key role in assessing for and identifying mental health symptoms among patient populations in the United States. NPs working in primary care, student health, mental health, and sports medicine should consider administering the SMHAT-1 as a screening tool to assess for mental health symptoms among athletes. Bringing awareness to and encouraging the use of the SMHAT-1 tool, may assist NP providers in detecting early signs of mental health symptoms in athletes. NPs are encouraged to consider administering the SMHAT-1 tool to elite athletes with a previous history and/or known risk factors for mental health concerns pre-sport season. SMHAT-1 tool screening should also be considered among elite athletes after an adverse life event such as injury or death of a loved one. Universal application of this tool may not be a great use of time for athletic staff and primary care providers. Utilizing the SMHAT-1 tool in primary practice would offer early identification of mental health symptoms, facilitate early treatment plans, and improve student athlete outcomes.

REFERENCES

Alsaleem, M. A., Alsaleem, S. A., Shehri, S. A., Awadalla, N. J., Mirdad, T. M., Abbag, F. I., & Mahfouz, A. A. (2021). Prevalence and correlates of university students' perceived stress in southwestern Saudi Arabia. *Medicine*, 100(38).

https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000027295

American College Health Association (2017). *Reference group executive summary*. Retrieved from https://www.acha.org/ documents/ncha/ncha-

ii_fall_2017_reference_group_executive_summary.pdf

- American College of Sports Medicine. (2021). The american college of sports medicine statement on mental health challenges for athletes. Retrieved from https://www.acsm.org/news-detail/2021/08/09/the-american-college-of-sports-medicinestatement-on-mental-health-challenges-for-athletes
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5). Retrieved from https://www.apa.org/ed/graduate/specialize/sports
- Anchuri, K., Davoren, A. K., Shanahan, A., Torres, M., & Wilcox, H. C. (2020). Nonsuicidal self-injury, suicidal ideation, and suicide attempt among collegiate athletes: findings from the national college health assessment. *Journal of American College Health*, 68(8), 815-823. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1080/07448481.2019.1616743
- Andersen, R. E., Barlett, S. J., Morgan, G. D., & Brownell, K. D. (1995). Weight loss, psychological and nutritional patterns in competitive male body builders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 18, 49–57.

- Armstrong, S., Oomen-Early, J. (2009). Social connectedness, self-esteem, and depression symptomatology among collegiate athletes versus nonathletes. *Journal of American College Health*, 57(5), 521–526. doi:10.3200/ JACH.57.5.521-526
- Arnold, R., & Fletcher, D. (2012). A research synthesis and taxonomic classification of the organizational stressors encountered by sport performers. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 34(3), 397–429. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.34.3.397
- Bakker, A. B., Sanz Vergel, A. I., & Kuntze, J. (2015). Student engagement and performance: A weekly diary study on the role of openness. *Motivation and Emotion*, 39(1), 49–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-014-9422-5
- Bastien, C. H., Ellis, J. G., Athey, A., Chakravorty, S., Robbins, R., Knowlden, A. P., Charest, J., & Grandner, M. A. (2019). Driving after drinking alcohol associated with insufficient sleep and insomnia among student athletes and non-athletes. *Brain Sciences*, 9(2), 46. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci9020046
- Beasley, L., Hoffman, S., & Andelin, R. (2021). Physical health literacy of student–athletes. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 29(5), e116–e125. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1111/hsc.13251
- Beattie, S., Hardy, L., Cook, A., & Gucciardi, D. F. (2020). Mental toughness training. *Skill Acquisition in Sport: Research, Theory and Practice, 3*, 255–270. Retrieved from http://www.danielgucciardi.com.au/uploads/9/7/3/6/9736343/beattie_et_al.__2020__post -print.pdf
- Bédard, T. C., Guay, F., & Trottier, C. (2021). Mental toughness in sport: the goal-expectancyself-control (GES) model. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 33(6), 627–643. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1080/10413200.2020.1808736

- Bender, A.M., Lawson, D., Werthner, P., & Samuels, C. (2018). The clinical validation of the athlete sleep screening questionnaire: an instrument to identify athletes that need further sleep assessment. *Sports Medicine - Open 4*, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40798-018-0140-5
- Betancourt, J. R., Green, A. R., Carrillo, J. E., & Ananeh-Firempong, O. (2003). Defining cultural competence: a practical framework for addressing racial/ethnic disparities in health and health care. *Public Health Reports*, *118*(4), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3549(04)50253-4
- Biggins, M., Cahalan, R., Comyns, T., Purtill, H., & O'Sullivan, K. (2018). Poor sleep is related to lower general health, increased stress and increased confusion in elite Gaelic athletes. *The Physician and Sportsmedicine*, 46(1), 14–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913847.2018.1416258
- Blanco, C., Okuda, M., Wright, C., Hasin, D. S., Grant, B. F., Liu, S. M., & Olfson, M. (2008).
 Mental health of college students and their non-college-attending peers: results from the National Epidemiologic Study on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65(12), 1429–1437. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.65.12.1429
- Boone, E. M., Leadbeater, B. J. (2006). Game on: diminishing risks for depressive symptoms in early adolescence through positive involvement in team sports. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 16(1), 79–90. doi:10.1111/j.1532-7795.2006.00122.x
- Buysse, D. (January, 2014). Sleep health: can we define it? Does it matter?. *Sleep*, *37*(1), 9-17. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.3298

- Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., Gallinaro, J. G. M. E., Falcão, R. S., Gouttebarge, V., Hitchcock, M. E., Hainline, B., Reardon, C. L., & Stull, T. (2019). Mental health symptoms and disorders in elite athletes: a systematic review on cultural influencers and barriers to athletes seeking treatment. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *53*(11), 707–721. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100710
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. (2018). WISQARS- web-based injury statistics query and reporting system. Retrieved from www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars

Charest, J., Bastien, C. H., Ellis, J. G., Killgore, W. D. S., & Grandner, M. A. (2021). The impact of perceived sleep, mood and alcohol use on verbal, physical and sexual assault experiences among student athletes and student non-athletes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(6), 2883. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.3390/ijerph18062883

- Chen, S., Snyder, S., & Magner, M. (2010). The effects of sport participation on student-athletes' and non-athlete students' social life and identity. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 3(1),176–193. Retrieved from http://csrijiia.org/old/documents/publications/research_articles/2010/JIIA_2010_3_10_176_193_A thletic%20Identity.pdf
- Chinn, D. (2011). Critical health literacy: a review and critical analysis. *Social Sciences & Medicine*, 73(1), 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. socscimed.2011.04.004
- Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training Education. (2020). *Professional Program Standards*. Retrieved from https://caate.net/Programs/Professional/Professional-Program-Standards

- Dattilo, M., Antunes, H. K. M., Medeiros, A., Neto, M. M., Souza, H. S. D., Tufik, S., De Mello, M. T. (2011). Sleep and muscle recovery: endocrinological and molecular basis for a new and promising hypothesis. *Medical Hypotheses*, 77(2), 220–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2011.04.017
- Dawson, D., Grant, B., Stinson, F., & Zhou, Y. (2006). Effectiveness of the derived alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT-C) in screening for alcohol use disorders and risk drinking in the US general population. *Alcohol Clinical & Experimental Research*, 29(5), 844–854. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ALC.0000164374.32229.A2
- Dean, C., & Rowan, D. (2014). The social worker's role in serving vulnerable athletes. *Journal* of Social Work Practice, 28(2), 219–227. https:// doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2013.817987
- De Souza, N. L., Esopenko, C., Conway, F. N., Torado, S. M., & Buckman, J. F. (2021). Patterns of health behaviors affecting mental health in collegiate athletes. *Journal of American College Health*, 69(5), 495-502. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1080/07448481.2019.1682591
- De Souza, M. J., Williams, N. I., Nattiv, A., Joy, E., Misra, M., & McComb, J. (2014).
 Misunderstanding the female athlete triad: Refuting the IOC consensus statement on relative energy deficiency in sport (RED-S). *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 48(20), 1461-1465. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2014-093958
- Doherty, R., Madigan, S., Warrington, G., & Ellis, J. (2019). Sleep and nutrition interactions: implications for athletes. *Nutrients*, *11*(4), 822. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11040822

- Donovan, R. J., Henley, N., Jalleh, G., Silburn, S., Zubrick, S., & Williams, A. (2006). The impact on mental health in others of those in a position of authority: a perspective of parents, teachers, trainers and supervisors. *Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health*, 5(1), 60–66. doi:10.5172/jamh.5.1.60
- Drew, B., & Matthews, J. (2019). The prevalence of depressive and anxiety symptoms in student-athletes and the relationship with resilience and help-seeking behavior. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 13(3), 421–439. https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2017-0043
- Drew, M., Vlahovich, N., Hughes, D., Appaneal, R., Burke, L. M., Lundy, B., Rogers, M.,
 Toomey, M., Watts, D., Lovell, G., Praet, S., Halson, S. L., Colbey, C., Manzanero, S.,
 Welvaert, M., West, N. P., Pyne, D. B., & Waddington, G. (2018). Prevalence of illness,
 poor mental health and sleep quality and low energy availability prior to the 2016
 Summer Olympic Games. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *52*(1), 47–53.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098208

Duffy, J., Rooney, B., & Matthews, J. (2021). Coaches' mental health literacy and role perceptions for supporting young people's mental health. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 33(1), 45–59. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1080/10413200.2019.1646840

- Dvorak, R. D., Lamis, D. A., & Malone, P. S. (2013). Alcohol use, depressive symptoms, and impulsivity as risk factors for suicide proneness among college students. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 149(1-3), 326–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.046
- Edwards, B., Froehle, A. W., & Fagan, S. E. (2021). Trends in college student-athlete mental health in the hational college health assessment (NCHA), 2011-2019. *Journal of Athletic Training*. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.4085/1062-6050-586-21

- Eisenberg, D., Golberstein, E., & Gollust, S. E. (2007). Help-seeking and access to mental health care in a university student population. *Medical Care*, 45(7), 594–601. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0b013e31803bb4c1
- El Ansari, W., & Stock, C. (2010). Is the health and wellbeing of university students associated with their academic performance? Cross sectional findings from the United Kingdom. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7(2), 509–527. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7020509
- Engel G. L. (1977). The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), *196*(4286), 129–136. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.847460
- Etzel, E. F. (2006). Understanding and promoting college student-athlete health: essential issues for student affairs professionals. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 43(3), 894-922.
- Fletcher, D., & Sarkar, M. (2013). Psychological resilience: a review and critique of definitions, concepts, and theory. *European Psychologist*, 18(1), 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1027/1016-9040/a000124
- Fogaca, J. (2021). Combining mental health and performance interventions: coping and social support for student-athletes. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 33(1), 4-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2019.1648326
- Freeman, P., & Rees, T. (2010). Perceived social support from teammates: direct and stressbuffering effects on self-confidence. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 10(1), 59–67. doi:10.1080/17461390903049998

Gallagher, K. A., Sonneville, K. R., Hazzard, V. M., Carson, T. L., & Needham, B. L. (2021). Evaluating gender bias in an eating disorder risk assessment questionnaire for athletes. *Eating Disorders*, 29(1), 29–41. https://doi-

org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1080/10640266.2019.1613846

- Gant, L., Benn, R., Gioia, D., & Seabury, B. (2009). Incorporating integrative health services in social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 45(3), 407–425. https://doi.org/10.5175/ JSWE.2009.200600127
- Gill, E. L. (2014). Integrating collegiate sports into social work education. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *50*(2), 305–321. https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2014.856245
- Gill, E., Rowan, D., & Moore, M. (2017). Special issue editor's note: the role of social work practice, advocacy, and research in college athletics. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 1–10. Retrieved from http://csri-jiia.org/special-issue-editors-note-the-role-ofsocialwork-practice-advocacy-and-research-in-college-athletics/
- Golem, D. L., Martin-Biggers, J. T., Koenings, M. M., Davis, K. F., & Byrd-Bredbenner, C.
 (2014). An integrative review of sleep for nutrition professionals. *Advances in nutrition* (*Bethesda*, *Md.*), 5(6), 742–759. https://doi.org/10.3945/an.114.006809
- Gorczynski, P., Currie, A., Gibson, K., Gouttebarge, V., Hainline, B., Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., Mountjoy, M., Purcell, R., Reardon, C. L., Rice, S., & Swartz, L. (2021). Developing mental health literacy and cultural competence in elite sport. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, *33*(4), 387–401. https://doi-

org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1080/10413200.2020.1720045

- Gouttebarge, V., Bindra, A., Blauwet, C., Campriani, N., Currie, A., Engebretsen, L., Hainline, B., Kroshus, E., McDuff, D., Mountjoy, M., Purcell, R., Putukian, M., Reardon, C. L., Rice, S. M., & Budgett, R. (2021). International olympic committee (IOC) sport mental health assessment tool 1 (SMHAT-1) and sport mental health recognition tool 1 (SMHRT-1): towards better support of athletes' mental health. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *55*(1), 30–37. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1136/bjsports-2020-102411
- Gouttebarge, V., Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., Gorczynski, P., Hainline, B., Hitchcock, M. E., Kerkhoffs, G. M., Rice, S. M., & Reardon, C. L. (2019). Occurrence of mental health symptoms and disorders in current and former athletes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53(11), 700-706. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100671
- Graupensperger, S. A, Benson, A. J., & Evans, M. B. (2018). Everyone else is doing it: the association between social identity and susceptibility to peer influence in NCAA athletes. *Journal of Sport Exercise Psychology*, 40(3), 117–127. doi:10.1123/jsep.2017-0339
- Gucciardi, D. F., Hanton, S., Gordon, S., Mallett, C. J., & Temby, P. (2015). The concept of mental toughness: tests of dimensionality, nomological network, and traitness. *Journal of Personality*, 83(1), 26–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12079
- Gupta, L., Morgan, K. & Gilchrist, S. (2017). Does elite sport degrade sleep quality? A systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, 47, 1317–1333. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0650-6
- Halson, S.L. (2014). Sleep in elite athletes and nutritional interventions to enhance sleep. *Sports Medicine*, 44(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0147-0

- Ham, L. S, & Hope, D. A. (2003). College students and problematic drinking: a review of the literature. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23(5), 719–759. doi:10.1016/S0272-7358(03)00071-0.
- Hausswirth, C., Louis, J., Aubry, A., Bonnet, G., Duffield, R., & LE Meur, Y. (2014). Evidence of disturbed sleep and increased illness in overreached endurance athletes. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 46(5), 1036–1045.

https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0000000000000177

- Herpen, R. (2022). *Mental disorders remain significant global burden on health*. Retrieved from https://www.healio.com/news/ psychiatry/20220118/mental-disorders-remain-significant-global-burden-on-health
- Hershner, S. D., & Chervin, R. D. (2014). Causes and consequences of sleepiness among college students. *Nature and Science of Sleep*, *6*, 73–84. https://doi.org/10.2147/NSS.S62907
- Hirshkowitz, M., Whiton, K., Albert, S. M., Alessi, C., Bruni, O., DonCarlos, L., Hazen, N., Herman, J., Katz, E. S., Kheirandish-Gozal, L., Neubauer, D. N., O'Donnell, A. E., Ohayon, M., Peever, J., Rawding, R., Sachdeva, R. C., Setters, B., Vitiello, M. V., Ware, J. C., & Adams Hillard, P. J. (2015). National sleep foundation's sleep time duration recommendations: methodology and results summary. *Sleep Health*, *1*(1), 40–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleh.2014.12.010
- International Society for Sports Psychiatry. (1994). *International society for sport psychiatry*. Retrieved from https://sportspsychiatry.org.
- Jorm A. F. (2012). Mental health literacy: empowering the community to take action for better mental health. *The American Psychologist*, 67(3), 231–243. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025957

- Kaier, E., Cromer, L. D., Johnson, M. D., Strunk, K., & Davis, J. L. (2015). Perceptions of mental illness stigma: comparisons of athletes to nonathlete peers. *Journal of College Student Development*, 56(7), 735-739. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2015.0079
- Karmali, K., Grabovsky, L., Levy, J., & Keatins, M. (2011). Enhancing cultural competence for improved access to quality care. *Healthcare Quarterly*, *14*(3), 52–57.
 doi:10.12927/hcq.2011. 22578
- Keyes C. L. (2002). The mental health continuum: from languishing to flourishing in life. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 43(2), 207–222. https://doi.org/10.2307/3090197
- Krizan, Z., & Hisler, G. (2019). Sleepy anger: restricted sleep amplifies angry feelings. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *148*(7), 1239–1250. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000522
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R.L. & Williams, J.B.W. (2001). The PHQ-9. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *16*, 606–613. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Kroshus, E. (2017). Stigma, coping skills, and psychological help seeking among collegiate athletes. *Athletic Training & Sports Health Care: The Journal for the Practicing Clinician*, 9(6), 254-262. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.3928/19425864-20171010-02
- LaBrie, J. W., Hummer, J. F., & Pedersen, E. R. (2007). Reasons for drinking in the college student context: the differential role and risk of the social motivator. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 68(3), 393–398. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2007.68.393
- Leeder, J., Glaister, M., Pizzoferro, K., Dawson, J., & Pedlar, C. (2012). Sleep duration and quality in elite athletes measured using wristwatch actigraphy. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 30(6), 541–545. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2012.660188

- Leonelli, B. R., Kuhn, T., Sanborn, V., & Gunstad, J. (2022). Feasibility of predicting in-season mental health problems in college student-athletes from pre-season assessment. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 32(2), e139-e144. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1097/JSM.00000000000899
- Martens, M. P., Dams-O'Connor, K., & Beck, N. C. (2006). A systematic review of college student-athlete drinking: prevalence rates, sport-related factors, and interventions. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 31(3), 305–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2006.05.004
- Martinsen, M., Holme, I., Pensgaard, A. M., Torstveit, M. K., & Sundgot-Borgen, J. (2014). The development of the brief eating disorder in athletes questionnaire. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *46*(8), 1666–1675.

https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000276

- McAllister, D. J., Kamdar, D., Morrison, E. W., & Turban, D. B. (2007). Disentangling role perceptions: how perceived role breadth, discretion, instrumentality, and efficacy relate to helping and taking charge. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(5), 1200–1211. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0021-9010.92.5.1200
- Milewski, M. D., Skaggs, D. L., Bishop, G. A., Pace, J. L., Ibrahim, D. A., Wren, T. A., & Barzdukas, A. (2014). Chronic lack of sleep is associated with increased sports injuries in adolescent athletes. *Journal of Pediatric Orthopedics*, *34*(2), 129–133. https://doi.org/10.1097/BPO.00000000000151
- Miller, P. S., & Kerr, G. A. (2003). The role experimentation of intercollegiate student athletes. *The Sport Psychologist*, *17*(2), 196–219. doi:10.1123/tsp.17.2.196

Minnesota Department of Health (2022). *PDSA: plan-do-study-act*. Retrieved from https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/practice/resources/phqitoolbox/pdsa.html#:~ :text=More%20information-

,What%20is%20PDSA%3F,works%20and%20what%20doesn%27t

- Moore, M. (2017). Stepping outside of their comfort zone: perceptions of seeking behavioral health services amongst college athletes. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletes*, 130–144. Retrieved from https://csri-jiia.org/stepping-outside-of-their-comfort-zone-perceptions-of-seeking-behavioral-health-services-amongst-college-athletes/
- Moore, M., Ballesteros, J., & Hansen, C. J. (2018). The role of social work values in promoting the functioning and well-being of athletes. *Journal of Social Work Values and Ethics*, *15*(2), 48–61. https://jswve.org/download/15-2/articles15-2/48-Well-being-of-athletes-JSWVE-15-2-2018-Fall.pdf
- Müller, C., El-Ansari, K., & El Ansari, W. (2022). Cross-sectional analysis of mental health among university students: do sex and academic level matter?. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(19), 12670. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.3390/ijerph191912670
- National Alliance on Mental Illness (2018). *NAMI on campus*. Retrieved from https://www.nami.org/namioncampus
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2022). *Mental health best practices*. Retrieved from https://www.ncaa.org/sport-science-institute/mental-health-best-practices
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2022). *Mental health issues remain on minds of student-athletes*. Retrieved from https://www.ncaa.org/news/2022/5/24/media-center-mental-health-issues-remain-on-minds-of-student-athletes.aspx

- National Collegiate Athletic Association Sport Science Institute (2017). *Interassociation consensus document: best practices for understanding and supporting student-athlete mental wellness*. Retrieved from https://www.ncaa.org/sites/default/files/HS_Mental-Health-BestPractices_20160317.pdf.
- National Institute of Mental Health (2020). *Mental health statistics*. Retrieved from https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness.shtml
- Neal, T. L., Diamond, A. B., Goldman, S., Klossner, D., Morse, E. D., Pajak, D. E., Putukian, M., Quandt, E. F., Sullivan, J. P., Wallack, C., & Welzant, V. (2013). Inter-association recommendations for developing a plan to recognize and refer student-athletes with psychological concerns at the collegiate level: an executive summary of a consensus statement. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 48(5), 716–720. https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.4085/1062-6050-48.4.13
- Needham, B., & Hill, T. D. (2010). Do gender differences in mental health contribute to gender differences in physical health?. *Social Science and Medicine*, *71*, 1472–1479. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.07.016
- National Institute of Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (2020). *Drinking levels defined*. Retrieved from https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohol-health/overview-alcoholconsumption/moderate-binge-drinking
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (2016). *Health-related quality of life and well-being*. Healthy People 2020. Retrieved from https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/health-related-quality-of-life-well-being

- Olfson, M., Fireman, B., Weissman, M. M., Leon, A. C., Sheehan, D. V., Kathol, R. G., Hoven, C., & Farber, L. (1997). Mental disorders and disability among patients in a primary care group practice. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 154(12), 1734–1740. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.154.12.1734
- Palumbo, D. J. (2021). The role of athletic trainers in the mental health care of student-athletes. *University of Tennessee*. Retrieved from https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_gradthes/6209
- Pender, N. (2011). The health promotion model. *Health Promotion in Nursing Practice*. Retrieved from

https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/85350/?sequence=1

- Piko, B. (2000). Perceived social support from parents and peers: which is the stronger predictor of adolescent substance use? *Substance Use & Misuse*, 35(4), 617–630. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826080009147475
- Purcell, R., Gwyther, K., & Rice, S. M. (2019). Mental health in elite athletes: increased awareness requires an early intervention framework to respond to athlete needs. *Sports Medicine-Open, 5*(1). https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1186/s40798-019-0220-1
- Rao, A. L., Asif, I. M., Drezner, J. A., Toresdahl, B. G., Harmon, K. G. (2015). Suicide in national collegiate athletic association (NCAA) athletes: a 9-year analysis of the NCAA resolutions database. *Sports Health*, 7(5), 452-457. doi:10.1177/1941738115587675

- Reardon, C. L., Hainline, B., Aron, C. M., Baron, D., Baum, A. L., Bindra, A., Budgett, R., Campriani, N., Castaldelli-Maia, J. M., Currie, A., Derevensky, J. L., Glick, I. D., Gorczynski, P., Gouttebarge, V., Grandner, M. A., Han, D. H., McDuff, D., Mountjoy, M., Polat, A., Purcell, R., & Engebretsen, L. (2019). Mental health in elite athletes: International Olympic Committee consensus statement. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *53*(11), 667–699. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100715
- Rees, T., & Hardy, L. (2004). Matching social support with stressors: effects on factors underlying performance in tennis. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 5(3), 319–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1469-0292(03)00018-9
- Rice, S. M., Parker, A. G., Mawren, D., Clifton, P., Harcourt, P., Lloyd, M., & Purcell, R.
 (2020). Preliminary psychometric validation of a brief screening tool for athlete mental health among male elite athletes: the athlete psychological strain questionnaire. *International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *18*(6), 850-865. https://doi.org/10.1080/1612197X.2019.1611900
- Rice, S. M., Purcell, R., De Silva, S., Mawren, D., McGorry, P. D., & Parker, A. G. (2016). The mental health of elite athletes: a narrative systematic review. *Sports Medicine*, 46(9), 1333–1353. doi:10.1007/s40279-016-0492-2
- Ridner, S. L., Newton, K. S., Staten, R. R., Crawford, T. N., & Hall, L. A. (2016). Predictors of well-being among college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 64(2), 116–124. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2015.1085057
- Rosenthal, L., Day, R., Gerhardstein, R., Meixner, R., Roth, T., Guido, P., & Fortier, J. (2001).
 Sleepiness/alertness among healthy evening and morning type individuals. *Sleep Medicine*, 2(3), 243–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1389-9457(00)00047-2

- Samuels, C. (2009). Sleep, recovery, and performance: the new frontier in high-performance athletics. *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America*, 20(1), 149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmr.2008.10.009
- Samuels, C., James, L., Lawson, D., & Meeuwisse, W. (2016). The athlete sleep screening questionnaire: a new tool for assessing and managing sleep in elite athletes. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 50(7), 418–422. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2014-094332
- Sarac, N., Sarac, B., Pedroza, A., & Borchers, J. (2018). Epidemiology of mental health conditions in incoming division I collegiate athletes. *The Physician and Sports Medicine*, 46(2), 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1080/00913847.2018.1427412
- Snedden, T. R., Scerpella, J., Kliethermes, S. A., Norman, R. S., Blyholder, L., Sanfilippo, J., McGuine, T. A., & Heiderscheit, B. (2019). Sport and physical activity level impacts health-related quality of life among collegiate students. *American Journal of Health Promotion, 33*(5), 675–682. https://doi-

org.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.1177/0890117118817715

- Sonderlund, A. L., O'Brien, K., Kremer, P., Rowland, B., De Groot, F., Staiger, P., Zinkiewicz, L., & Miller, P. G. (2014). The association between sports participation, alcohol use and aggression and violence: a systematic review. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, *17*(1), 2–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2013.03.011
- Sonneville, K. R., & Lipson, S. K. (2018). Disparities in eating disorder diagnosis and treatment according to weight status, race/ethnicity, socioeconomic background, and sex among college students. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 51(6), 518-526. doi:10.1002/eat.22846

- Sorensen, K., Van den Broucke, S., Fullam, J., Doyle, G., Pelikan, J., Slonska, Z., & Brand, H. (2012). Consortium health literacy project european health literacy and public health: a systematic review and integration of definitions and models. *BioMed Central Public Health*, 12, 80–93. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-80
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., & Williams, J. B. (1999). Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders. Patient Health Questionnaire. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 282(18), 1737–1744. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.18.1737
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B., & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 166(10), 1092– 1097. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Spitzer, R., Williams, J. B., Kroenke, K., Linzer, M., DeGruy, F. V., Hahn, S. R., & Johnson, J. G. (1994). Utility of a new procedure for diagnosing mental disorders in primary care: the PRIME-MD 1000 study. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 272(22), 1749-1756.
- Steinfeldt, J. A., Steinfeldt, M. C., England, B., & Speight, Q. L. (2009). Gender role conflict and stigma toward help-seeking among college football players. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 10(4), 261–272. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017223
- Steptoe, A., Tsuda, A., Tanaka, Y., & Wardle, J. (2007). Depressive symptoms, socio-economic background, sense of control, and cultural factors in university students from 23 countries. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 14(2), 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03004175

- Strother, E., Lemberg, R., Stanford, S. C., & Turberville, D. (2012). Eating disorders in men: underdiagnosed, undertreated, and misunderstood. *Eating Disorders*, 20(5), 346–355. doi:10.1080/10640266.2012.715512
- Swann, C., Telenta, J., Draper, G., Liddle, S., Fogarty, A., Hurley, D., & Vella, S. (2018). Youth sport as a context for supporting mental health: adolescent male perspectives. *Psychology* of Sport and Exercise, 35, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.11.008
- Thomas, D. T., Erdman, K. A., & Burke, L. M. (2016). American college of sports medicine joint position statement. nutrition and athletic performance. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 48(3), 543–568. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000852
- Vella, S. A., Swann, C., Batterham, M., Boydell, K. M., Eckermann, S., Ferguson, H., Fogarty, A., Hurley, D., Liddle, S. K., Lonsdale, C., Miller, A., Noetel, M., Okely, A. D., Sanders, T., Schweickle, M. J., Telenta, J., & Deane, F. P. (2021). An intervention for mental health literacy and resilience in organized sports. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *53*(1), 139–149. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000002433
- Vidic, Z., St. Martin, M., & Oxhandler, R. (2017). Mindfulness intervention with a U.S. women's NCAA division I basketball team: impact on stress, athletic coping skills and perceptions of intervention. *The Sport Psychologist*, *31*(2), 147-159. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.2016-0077
- Wilkerson, T. A., Stokowski, S., Fridley, A., Dittmore, S. W., & Bell, C. A. (2020). Black football student athletes' perceived barriers to seeking mental health services. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 55-81. Retrieved from https://csri-jiia.org/blackfootball-student-athletes-perceived-barriers-to-seeking-mental-health-services/

Wolanin, A., Gross, M., & Hong, E. (2015). Depression in athletes: prevalence and risk factors. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*, 14(1), 56–60. https://doi.org/10.1249/JSR.00000000000123

World Health Organization (2018). International classification of diseases for mortality and morbidity statistics (ICD-11). Retrieved from http://icd.who.int

Young, R. D., Neil, E. R., Eberman, L. E., Armstrong, T. A., & Winkelmann, Z. K. (2022). Experiences of current NCAA division 1 collegiate student-athletes with mental health resources. *Journal of Athletic Training*. Retrieved from https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.ndsu.nodak.edu/10.4085/1062-6050-0180.22

APPENDIX A: INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

NDSU NORTH DAKOTA

08/23/2023

Dr. Mykell M Barnacle Nursing

Re: IRB Determination of Exempt Human Subjects Research: Protocol #IRB0004870, "MENTAL HEALTH: IMPLEMENTATION OF THE SMHAT-1 TOOL TO SCREEN FOR MENTAL HEALTH CONCERNS AMONG COLLEGIATE ATHLETES ATTENDING A MIDWESTERN UNIVERSITY"

NDSU Co-investigator(s) and research team:

- Mykell M Barnacle
- Chrisann Marie Richter
- Carrie Ann Nelson
- Shannon Lyn David Misialek
- Allison Evelyn Peltier

Approval Date: 08/23/2023 Expiration Date: 08/22/2024 Study site(s): North Dakota State University Funding Source: The above referenced human subjects research project has been determined exempt (category 1,2) in accordance with federal regulations (Code of Federal Regulations, Title 45, Part 46, *Protection of Human Subjects*).

Please also note the following:

- The study must be conducted as described in the approved protocol.
- Changes to this protocol must be approved prior to initiating, unless the changes are necessary to eliminate an immediate hazard to subjects.
- Promptly report adverse events, unanticipated problems involving risks to subjects or others, or protocol deviations related to this project.

Thank you for your cooperation with NDSU IRB procedures. Best wishes for a successful study.

NDSU has an approved FederalWide Assurance with the Department of Health and Human Services: FWA00002439.

RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE

NDSU Dept 4000 | PO Box 6050 | Fargo ND 58108-6050 | ndsu.research@ndsu.edu Shipping Address: Research 1, 1735 NDSU Research Park Drive, Fargo ND 58102 NDSU is an E0/A university.

APPENDIX B: PERMISSION TO USE SMHAT-1 TOOL

7/21/23, 2:02 PM

Mail - Richter, Chrisann - Outlook

International Olympic Committee Re: Permission to use the SMHAT-1 tool for a doctoral dissertation project

Olympics Support <contact@support.olympic.org> Fri 7/21/2023 1:51 PM To:Richter, Chrisann <chrisann.m.richter@ndsu.edu>

Hualan Jiang (International Olympic Committee) 21 Jul 2023, 2:51pm GMT-4

Dear Chrisann Richter,

Thank you for contacting the IOC.

Please be aware that this tool is accessible to the public and can be used by anyone.

Kind regards from the support team at Olympics.

Dor

International Olympic Committee Maison Olympique, 1007 Lausanne, Switzerland

This message is intended solely for the use of the addressee(s) named herein and contains confidential information. Any distribution, copying, disclosure or modification of this message and of any attachment is strictly prohibited without the prior approval of the IOC. If you have received this e-mail by mistake, please advise the sender immediately and destroy this message and any attachment, including any printout thereof, without retaining a copy.

APPENDIX C: IOC SMHAT-1 TOOL

ital material	placed on this supplemental materia	al which has been supplied by the author(s)	Br J Sp
SMHAT-1			
The International Olym	pic Committee Sport Mental H	ealth Assessment Tool 1	
DEVELOPED BY THE IO	C MENTAL HEALTH WORKING	GROUP	
Athlete's name:		Athlete's ID number:]
Inat is the SMHAT-1	Why use the SMHAT-1	Step 1: Triage Tool — Athlete's form 1	
port Mental Health Assessment Tool 1 SMHAT-1) is a standardized assessment	are prevalent among active and former elite athletes. Mental health disorders are	Assessment with APSQ	
ol aiming to identify at an early stage elite hletes (defined as professional, Olympic, aralympic and collegiate level: 16 and older)	typically defined as conditions causing clinically significant distress or impairment that meet certain diagnostic criteria, such as	Score APSQ < 17 Score APSQ ≥ 17	
tentially at risk for or already experiencing ental health symptoms and disorders, in	in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th edition (DSM-5) or the		
der to facilitate timely referral of those in sed to adequate support and/or treatment.	International Classification of Diseases 10th revision (ICD-10), whereas mental health symptoms are self-reported, may be significant	No further action needed	
fho should use the SMHAT-1	but do not occur in a pattern meeting specific diagnostic criteria and do not necessarily cause		Score ≧ 1
source of the second by sports medicine systems and other licensed/registered health ofessionals, but the clinical assessment (and	significant distress or functional impairment. When to use the SMHAT-1	Assessment with 6 screening instruments	PHQ-9 item 9 = ACTION
Jated management) within the SMHAT-1 ee step 3b) should be conducted by sports edicine physicians and/or incersed parietered	The SMHAT-1 should be ideally embedded within the pre-competition period (i.e. a		
ental health professionals. If you are not a ports medicine physician or other licensed/	few weeks after the start of sport training), as well as within the mid- and end-season	under threshold	
gistered health professional, please use e IOC Sport Mental Health Recognition col 1 (SMHRT-1), Physical therapists or	period. The SMHAT-1 should also ideally be used when any significant event for athletes occurs such as injury, illness, surgery.	•	
hletic trainers working with a sports medicine sysician can use the SMHAT-1 but any	unexplained performance concern, after a major competition, end of competitive cycle,	Step 3a: Brief intervention and monitoring • Single or combination of brief interventions • Monitoring with APSQ (Athlete's form 1)	
idance or intervention should remain the sponsibility of their sports medicine physician	suspected harassment/abuse, adverse life event and transitioning out of sport.		
o use this paper version of the SMHAT-1, plea arrent form can be freely copied for distributio	ase print it single-sided. The SMHAT-1 in its n to individuals, teams, groups and organizations.	Step 3b: Clinical assessment	
y revision requires the specific approval by t ported to the IOC MHWG. The SMHAT-1 sho urther information about the development of t	the IOC MHWG while any translation should be ould not be re-branded or sold for commercial gain. he SMHAT-1 and related screening tools (including	Additional information (Athlete's form 3) Definition and application of treatment and support plan	•
cychometric properties) is presented in the co ports Medicine.	mesponding publication of the British Journal of	Referral to a mental health professional	
			1
Step 1. Triage tool for mental	health symptoms and disorders		
Calculate the total score by summin	a up the answers on the 10 items	lete the ronowing.	Total Score
	g up the chlorid of the refield		
Total score 10 – 16 >>> No fu	urther action needed		
Total score 17 – 50 >>> The a	athlete should complete the Athlete's form	2. Once the Athlete's form 2 is completed, proceed to ste	ep 2
Step 2 Screening tools for m	ental health symptoms and disorders		2
ACTION: For this step, you n	need to refer to the Athlete's form 2. Comp	lete the following.	
Screening 1 (anxiety)		Screening 4 (alcohol misuse)	
Calculate the total score by summin up the answers on the 7 items	g Total Score	Calculate the total score by summing up the answers on the 3 items	Total Score
Screening 2 (depression)		Screening 5 (drug(s) use)	
Calculate the total score by summin up the answers on the 9 items	g Total Score	Calculate the total score by summing up the answers on the 4 items	Total Score
Note the score ('0', '1', '2' or '3')	Score	Note which drug(s) caused concerns	Drug(s)
or the athlete on item 9			
Calculate the total score by summin	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	Screening 6 (disordered eating)	
up the answers on the 5 items.	Total Score	the answers on the first 6 items	Total Score
			Page 1 of 3

Summary table about step 2 (screening)

• ACTION: Refer to all scores previously calculated and complete the summary table; note the screening scores and tick the appropriate box

	Total score	Under threshold		At or abov	e threshold
Anxiety (screening 1)		0-9		≧10	
Depression (screening 2)		0-9		≧10	
Depression item 9 (screening 2)		0		≥1	
Sleep disturbance (screening 3)		0-7		≧8	
Alcohol misuse (screening 4)		Men 0-3; 🗆 \	Women 0-2 🗌	Men ≧4; □	Women ≧3 🗌
Drug(s) misuse (screening 5)		0-1		≧2	
Disordered eating (screening 6)		0-3		≧4	

Anxiety: score 5-9 = mild; score 10-14 = moderate; score ≥15 = severe

Depression: score 5-9 = mild; score 10-14 = moderate; score 15-19 = moderately severe; score ≧20 = severe Sleep disturbance: score 5-7 = mild; score 8-10 = moderate; score ≧11 = severe

Box ticked for depression item 9>>> Take immediate action to ensure safety of the athlete.

All screening scores under threshold >>> Proceed to step 3a

One or more screening scores at or above threshold >>> Proceed to step 3b

Step 3a. Brief intervention and monitoring

ACTION: Refer the athlete to a single intervention or combination of brief interventions such as psychoeducation, mindfulness, meditation, mental skills training, or stress control.

• ACTION: After the completion of brief intervention(s), the athlete should be re-assessed with the triage tool (Athlete's form 1), and further action taken as follows:

Total score 0 - 16 >>> No further action needed

Total score 17 – 50 >>> The athlete must proceed into step 3b

Step 3b. Clinical assessment and management

This step should be completed by a sport medicine physician or a licensed/registered mental health professional. The objective of this step is to conduct a comprehensive clinical assessment in order to identify important problems/diagnoses and create a management/intervention plan.

OACTION: Review and interpret the triage and screening scores and conduct a clinical assessment in order to obtain additional information. Inquire about a history of and/or current presence of harassment/abuse within or outside of sports.

ACTION: Your comprehensive assessment should consider the following:

Severity

Severity refers to the likelihood of an identified clinical problem significantly compromising the athlete's health and wellbeing, for instance, by causing severe functional impairments, markedly disturbed behaviors and/or risk to self or others (e.g., suicidal/ homicidal intent, significant self-neglect, or electrolyte abnormalities in eating disorders would be considered high severity).

Complexity

Complexity refers to comorbid mental health and other medical conditions (e.g., alcohol use disorder and anxiety, depression and diabetes mellitus, or any mental health disorder and significant musculoskeletal injury) and/or significant sport (e.g., performance concerns, career dissatisfaction) or non-sport (e.g., relationship or financial problems, bereavement) stressors. Note that being successful can also be a major life event leading to unexpected stresses.

Diagnostic uncertainty

Diagnostic uncertainty refers to any doubt about diagnosis. Examples include differentiating a high level of sport-related physical activity from over-activity found in hypomania and ADHD, functional performance-related eating from eating disorders, or depression from bipolar disorder.

Treatment non-response

Treatment non-response refers to when the initial treating clinician has implemented one or two treatment cycles with no response or a partial response.

Page 2 of 3

Supplemental material

ACTION: Note the most significant problem(s) of the athlete in the following table (column 'problem') and complete the table by ticking the appropriate box(es) if applicable.

Problem	Severity	Complexity	Diagnostic uncertainty	Treatment non-response
Problem 1				
Problem 2				
Problem 3				

In cases that are neither severe, complex, diagnostically uncertain nor non-responsive to treatment >>> Treatment/support can be provided by a sports medicine / primary care physician, referring then to the International Olympic Committee consensus statement on mental health in elite athletes for guidance

In cases of diagnostic uncertainty or when further information might be useful >>> Consider whether one or more additional screening tools should be completed by the athlete. If relevant, use the Athlete's form 3: screening 7 for attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, screening 8 for bipolar disorder, screening 9 for post-traumatic stress disorder, screening 10 for gambling, screening 11 for psychosis. For the calculation of total score(s) and related interpretation, please refer to the last section of this form.

In cases that are severe, complex, diagnostically uncertain even after any appropriate additional screening and/or non-responsive to treatment >>> Athletes should be referred to a mental health professional (e.g., clinical psychologist or psychiatrist).

Additional screening tools for mental health symptoms and disorders	
ACTION: For this, you need to refer to the Athlete's form 3. Complete the following.	
Screening 7 (attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder)	
Calculate the total score by summing up the answers on the 6 items	Total Score
Score \geq 4 = symptoms highly consistent with ADHD	
Screening 8 (bipolar disorder)	
Calculate the total score by summing up the answers on item 1	Total score
Note the score of item 2	Score
Note the score of item 3	Score
Possible bipolar disorder if total score \geq 7 AND item 2 = 1 AND item 3 = 1	
Screening 9 (post-traumatic stress disorder)	
Calculate the total score by summing up the answers on the 5 items	Total Score
Cut-off of 3 = sensitivity of 0.95 & specificity of 0.85; cut-off of 4 = sensitivity of 0.83 & specificity of 0.91	
Screening 10 (gambling)	
Calculate the total score by summing up the answers on the 9 items	Total Score
Score 0 = non-problem gambling; score 1-2 = low level of problems with few or no identified negative consequences; score 3-7 = of problems leading to some negative consequences; score ≥ 8 = problem gambling with negative consequences and a possible	moderate level
Screening 11 (psychosis)	
Calculate the total score by summing up the answers on the 16 items	Total Score
Score ≧6 = at risk for psychosis	

Page 3 of 3

SMHAT-1

The International Olympic Committee Sport Mental Health Assessment Tool 1 DEVELOPED BY THE IOC MENTAL HEALTH WORKING GROUP



Athlete's name:

Athlete's ID number: ____

ATHLETE'S FORM 1

These questions concern how you have been feeling over the past 30 days. Please circle the answer that best represents how you have been.

	None of the time	A little of the time	Some of the time	Most of the time	All of the time
1. It was difficult to be around teammates	1	2		4	5
2. I found it difficult to do what I needed to do	1	2		4	5
3. I was less motivated	1	2		4	5
4. I was irritable, angry or aggressive	1	2		4	5
5. I could not stop worrying about injury or my performance	1	2		4	5
6. I found training more stressful	1	2		4	5
7. I found it hard to cope with selection pressures	1	2		4	5
8. I worried about life after sport	1	2		4	5
9. I needed alcohol or other substances to relax	1	2		4	5
10. I took unusual risks off-field	1	2	3	4	5

Athlete's form 1: page 1 of 1

SMHAT-1

The International Olympic Committee Sport Mental Health Assessment Tool 1 DEVELOPED BY THE IOC MENTAL HEALTH WORKING GROUP



ATHLETE'S FORM 2

Screening 1

The following questions relate to feeling anxious or stressed. Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems? Please circle the answer that best represents how you have been.

	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1. Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge	0	1	2	3
2. Not being able to stop or control worrying	0	1	2	3
3. Worrying too much about different things		1	2	
4. Trouble relaxing		1	2	
5. Being so restless that it's hard to sit still	0	1	2	3
6. Becoming easily annoyed or irritable		1	2	3
7. Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen	0		2	3

Screening 2

The following questions relate to feeling depressed, sad or blue. Over the past 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? Please circle the answer that best represents how you have been.

	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	
2. Feeling down, depressed or hopeless	0	1	2	
3. Trouble falling asleep, staying asleep, or sleeping too much	0	1	2	
4. Feeling tired or having little energy	0	1	2	
5. Poor appetite or overeating	0	1	2	3
 Feeling bad about yourself - or that you're a failure or have let yourself or your family down 	o	1	2	
7. Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television	0	1	2	
8. Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or, the opposite - being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual	0	1	2	
9. Thoughts that you would be better off dead or of hurting yourself in some way	0	1	2	
Screening 3				

Screening 3

The following questions relate to your sleep habits. Please circle the best answer which you think represents your typical sleep habits over the recent past.

1. During the recent past, how many hours of actual sleep did you get at night? (This may be different than the number of hours you spent in bed.)					
5 to 6 hours	4				
6 to 7 hours					
7 to 8 hours	2				
8 to 9 hours	1				
more than 9 hours					

Athlete's form 2: page 1 of 3

	0
somewhat satisfied	1
neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	2
somewhat dissatisfied	3
verv dissatisfied	4
3. During the recent past, how long has it usually taken you to fail asleep each night?	
	0
16 – 30 minutes	1
sh – bu minutes	2
onger man ou minutes	3
4. How often do you have trouble staying asleep?	
never	0
once or twice per week	1
hree or four times per week	2
ive to seven days per week	3
5. During the recent past, how often have you taken medicine to help you sleep (prescribed or over-the-counter)?	
lever	0
once or twice per week	1
three or four times ner week	2
hree or four times per week ive to seven times per week Screening 4	3
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use.	3
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. I. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? None	2 3
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Meethive cleas	2 3 0 1
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less	2 3 0 1
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2.4 times a month 2.3 times a week	2 3 3 0 1 2 2
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2-4 times a month 2-3 times a week 4 or more times a week	2 3 3 0 1 2 2 3 3
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2-4 times a month 2-3 times a week 4 or more times a week	2 3 0 1 2 3 3 4
three or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2.4 times a month 2.3 times a week 4 or more times a week 2. How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink?	2 3 3 0 1 1 2 3 4
three or four times per week	2 3 3 0 1 1 2 3 3 4 4 0 0
hee or four times per week	2 3 3 0 1 1 2 3 3 4 4 0 1 1
hee or four times per week Ve to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2-4 times a month 2-3 times a week 4 or more times a week 2. How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink? 1 to 2 3 to 4 5 to 6 7 to 0	2 3 3 0 1 2 2 3 3 4 4 0 1 1 2 2 1 1 2
hee or four times per week Ve to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2.4 times a month 2.3 times a week 4 or more times a week 2. How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink? 1 to 2 3 to 4 5 to 6 7 to 9	2 3 3 0 1 1 2 3 3 4 4 0 1 1 2 3 1 2 3 3
thee or four times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2.4 times a month 2.3 times a week 4 or more times a week 2. How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink? 11 to 2 3 to 4 5 to 6 7 to 9	2 3 3 0 1 1 2 3 3 4 4 1 2 3 1 1 2 3 3 4 4
hee or four times per week	2 3 3 0 1 1 2 3 4 4 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3 3 4 4
thee or four times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2.4 times a month 2.3 times a week 4 or more times a week 2. How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink? 1 to 2 3 to 4 5 to 6 7 to 9 10 or more 3. How often do you have six or more drinks on one occasion?	2 3 3 0 1 1 2 3 3 4 4 2 3 1 2 3 3 1 4 3 3 4 1 2 3 3 1 4 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1
thee or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2.4 times a month 2.3 times a week 4 or more times a week 2. How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink? 1 to 2 3 to 4 5 to 6 7 to 9 10 or more 3. How often do you have six or more drinks on one occasion? Never	2 3 3 0 1 2 3 3 4 4 2 3 3 4 1 2 3 3 4 4 3 3 1 4 1 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1
thee or four times per week five to seven times per week Screening 4 The following questions are about alcohol use. Please respond to each question by circling the number from '0' to '4' that represents your alcohol use. 1. How often do you have a drink containing alcohol? Never Monthly or less 2-4 times a month 2-3 times a week 4 or more times a week 2. How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink? 1 to 2 3 to 4 5 to 6 7 to 9 10 or more 3. How often do you have six or more drinks on one occasion? Never	2 3 3 0 1 2 3 3 4 4 3 4 1 2 3 3 4 4 1 2 3 3 4 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 2 1

Athlete's form 2: page 2 of 3

BMJ Publishing Group Limited (BMJ) disclaims all liability and responsibility arising from any reliance placed on this supplemental material which has been supplied by the author(s)

Screening 5

The following questions are about drug(s) use in the last 3 months. Please respond to each question by circling 'yes' or 'no'. When thinking about drug use consider legal ones like caffeine or nicotine, illicit/illegal drugs (including cannabis even if legal in your state/country) and prescription medications used in ways other than prescribed (i.e., higher dosages; different ways of taking them, i.e., crushing/sniffing, injecting). Do NOT include alcohol in these responses.

	Yes	No
1. In the last three months, have you felt you should cut down or stop using drugs?	1	
2. In the last three months, has anyone annoyed you or gotten on your nerves by telling you to cut down or stop using drugs?	1	
3. In the last three months, have you felt guilty or bad about how much you use drugs?	1	
4. In the last three months, have you been waking up wanting to use drugs?	1	

In the last 3 months, which drug(s) or substance(s) listed below caused concerns or problems in your life? Concerns may include drug-related stress, depression. insomnia, financial strain, relationship conflict, heavy use/overdose, cravings, withdrawal, blackouts, flashbacks, fights, arrests, missed work, and/or medical problems like hepatitis, seizures or weight loss. Please circle all that apply.

	None	Stimulants-nicotine	Hallucinogens (LSD; mushrooms)
Cannabis-marijuana Stimulants-powd		Stimulants-powder cocaine	Inhalants (volatile solvents)
	Cannabis-oil	Stimulants-crack cocaine	Opioids-heroin
	Cannabis-edibles	Stimulants-methamphetamine (meth)	Opioids-opium
	Cannabis-synthetics (K2; Spice)	Stimulants-methylphenidate (ADD/ADHD medication)	Opioids-pain medications (e.g. oxycodone, hydrocodone)
	Club Drugs (MDMA-ectasy; GHB)	Stimulants-amphetamine salts (ADD/ADHD medication)	Synthetic Cathinones (bath salts)
	Stimulants-caffeine	Dissociative Drugs (Ketamine; PCP)	Other (specify)

Screening 6

The following questions are related to your eating habits and your thoughts about food, eating, your weight and your body image. Over the past 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? Please circle the answer that best represents how you have been.

	Always	Usually	Often	Sometimes	Rarely	Never
1. I feel extremely guilty after overeating		2	1			
2. I am preoccupied with the desire to be thinner		2	1			
3. I think that my stomach is too big		2	1	0		
4. I feel satisfied with the shape of my body				1	2	
5. My parents have expected excellence of me		2	1			
6. As a child, I tried very hard to avoid disappointing my parents and teachers		2	1			
7. Are you trying to lose weight now?						No
8. Have you tried to lose weight?						No
. If yes, how many times have you tried to lose weight? 1-2 times					3-5 times	>5 times

Athlete's form 2: page 3 of 3

BMJ Publishing Group Limited (BMJ) disclaims all liability and responsibility arising from any reliance placed on this supplemental material which has been supplied by the author(s)

SMHAT-1

The International Olympic Committee Sport Mental Health Assessment Tool 1 DEVELOPED BY THE IOC MENTAL HEALTH WORKING GROUP



ATHLETE'S FORM 3 Screening 7 Please circle the answer that best describes how you have felt and conducted yourself over the past 6 months. Never Rarely Sometimes Ofter Very often 1. How often do you have trouble wrapping up the final details of a project, once the challenging parts have been done? 2. How often do you have difficulty getting things in order when you have to do a task that requires organization? 3. How often do you have problems remembering appointments or obligations? 4. When you have a task that requires a lot of thought, how often do you avoid or delay getting started? 5. How often do you fidget or squirm with your hands or feet when you have to sit down for a long time? How often do you feel overly active and compelled to do things, like you were driven by a motor? Screening 8 Please respond to each question by circling 'yes' or 'no'. 1. Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and... Yes No ...you felt so good or so hyper that other people thought you were not your normal self or you were so hyper that you got into trouble? ...you were so irritable that you shouted at people or started fights or arguments? ... you felt much more self-confident than usual? ... you got much less sleep than usual and found you didn't really miss it? ...you were much more talkative or spoke faster than usual? ... thoughts raced through your head or you couldn't slow your mind down? ... you were so easily distracted by things around you that you had trouble concentrating or staying on track? ... you had much more energy than usual? ... you were much more active or did many more things than usual? ...you were much more social or outgoing than usual, for example, you telephoned friends in the middle of the night? ...you were much more interested in sex than usual? ...you did things that were unusual for you or that other people might have thought were excessive, foolish, or risky? ... spending money got you or your family in trouble? If you checked YES to more than one of the above, have several of these ever happened during the same period of time? Please check 1 response only. 3. How much of a problem did any of these cause you - like being able to work; having family, money, or legal troubles; getting into arguments or fights? Please check 1 response only. 4. Have any of your blood relatives (ie, children, siblings, parents, grandparents, aunts, uncles) had manic-depressive illness or bipolar disorder? 5. Has a health professional ever told you that you have manic-depressive illness or bipolar disorder?

Athlete's form 3: page 1 of 3
physical or sexual assault or abuse, an earthquake or flood, a war, seeing homicide or suicide.	ening, horrible, or tra someone be killed o	aumatic. For exa or seriously injur	imple, a serio ed, or having	ous accide g a loved o	nt or fire, a ne die throu
Please respond to the following question by circling 'yes' or 'no'.					
Have you ever experienced this kind of an event?				Yes	No
If yes, did the event occur inside or outside of sport?			Inside	Outside	Both
If you have not experienced one or more of these events, then stop here v	with Screening 9 and	i please go to So	creening 10.		
If you have experienced an event or events like this, please circle your an	swer to the following	5 questions.		Vas	No
In the nast month, have you had ninhtmares about the event(s) or thought about the event(s) when you did not want to?				1	0
n the past month. have you tried hard not to think about the event(s) or went out of					
In the past month, have you tried hard not to think about the event(s) or went out of your way to avoid situations that reminded you of the event(s)?				1	0
n the past month, have you been constantly on guard, watchful, or easily startled?				1	0
n the past month, have you felt numb or detached from people, activities, or your su	rroundings?			1	0
n the past month, have you felt quilty or unable to stop blaming yourself or others or the evet(s) or any problems the events may have caused?				1	0
Please circle the answer that best represents how you have been feeling	towards gambling in Never	Sometimes	Most of the	e time 🛛 A	Imost alway:
	Never	Sometimes	Most of the	e time A	Imost always
 Have you bet more than you could really afford to lose? 	0	1	2		
Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement?	0	1	2		3
 Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 	0	1	2		3
Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble?	0 0 0	1 1 1	2 2 2 2		3 3 3
Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling?	0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2		3 3 3 3 3
Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? Have you feit that you might have a problem with gambling? Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety?	0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2		3 3 3 3 3 3
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 6. Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety? 7. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true?	0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety? Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household?	0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Have people criticized your any health problems, including stress or anxiety? 7. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? 8. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 9. Have you felt guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble?	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
A lave you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? A When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? A lave you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? A lave you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? A lave you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? A lave gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety? A lave people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling robbem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? A lave you felt guity about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble? Screening 11	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? 8. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 8. Have pou feit guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble? 5. Greening 11 Please circle the answer that best represents how you are feeling.	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you feit that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Have you feit that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? 3. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 3. Have you feit guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble? 5. Screening 11 Please circle the answer that best represents how you are feeling.	0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	ss did you e	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 2
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 6. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 7. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling aroblem, regardless of whether or not you hought it was true? 8. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 8. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 8. Have you felt guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble? 5. Screening 11 Please circle the answer that best represents how you are feeling. 6. I feel uninterested in the things I used to eniov.		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 3 2 3 2 3 3 2 3	ss did you e Moderatu	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety? 7. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? 8. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 9. Have you felt guity about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble? 5. Screening 11 Please circle the answer that best represents how you are feeling. 1. I feel uninterested in the things I used to enjoy.	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3	ss did you e Moderate	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 5 8 8 8 8
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 6. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 7. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling aroblem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? 3. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 3. Have you felt guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble? 5. Screening 11 Please circle the answer that best represents how you are feeling. 6. I feel uninterested in the things I used to enjoy.	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 3	ss did you e Moderatu 2	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
2. Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement? 3. When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost? 4. Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble? 5. Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling? 5. Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety? 7. Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true? 3. Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household? 3. Have you felt guity about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble? 5. Screening 11 Please circle the answer that best represents how you are feeling. 2. I often seem to live through events exactly as they happened before (déjà vu).	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 3 3 3 4 4 4 5 5 4 1 1	ss did you e Moderate 2 Moderate	3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Athlete's form 3: page 2 of 3

Gouttebarge V, et al. Br J Sports Med 2020;0:1-9. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102411

Supplemental material

		None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
. I often hear unusual sounds like banging, clicking, hissing, clapping or ringing in ny ears.	True 🗌 False 🗌	0	1	2	3
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
. I have been confused at times whether something I experienced was real or naginary.	True 🗌 False 🗌		1	2	
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
. When I look at a person, or look at myself in a mirror, I have seen the face hange right before my eyes.	True 🗌 False 🗌		1	2	3
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
7. I get extremely anxious when meeting people for the first time.	True 🗌 False 🗌	0	1	2	3
		None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
 I have seen things that other people apparently can't see. 	True 🗌 False 🗌	0	1	2	3
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
). My thoughts are sometimes so strong that I can almost hear them.	True 🗌 False 🗌	0	1	2	3
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
 I sometimes see special meanings in advertisements, shop windows, or in the way things are arranged around me. 	True 🗌 False 🗌		1	2	3
		None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
11. Sometimes I have feit that I'm not in control of my own ideas or thoughts.	True 🗌 False 🗌	0	1	2	3
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
 Sometimes I feel suddenly distracted by distant sounds that I am not normally aware of. 	True 🗌 False 🗌		1	2	
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
 I have heard things other people can't hear like voices of people whispering or alking. 	True 🗌 False 🗌		1	2	3
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
14. I often feel that others have it in for me.	True 🗌 False 🗌		1	2	3
	[None	Mild	Moderate	Severe
15. I have had the sense that some person or force is around me, even though I could not see anyone.	True 🗌 False 🗌	0	1	2	3
		None	Mild	Moderate	Severe

Athlete's form 3: page 3 of 3

Gouttebarge V, et al. Br J Sports Med 2020;0:1-9. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102411

APPENDIX D: PERMISSION TO USE HEALTH PROMOTION MODEL

2/24/23, 10:33 AM

Mail - Richter, Chrisann - Outlook

Re: Permission to use Health Promotion Model

Nola Pender <npender@umich.edu> Fri 2/24/2023 10:25 AM To: Richter, Chrisann <chrisann.m.richter@ndsu.edu>

1 attachments (23 KB) HEALTH PROMOTION MODEL WEBSITES.odt;

Dear Chrisann:

You have my permission to use the Health Promotion Model in your work and in resultant publications. I wish you success. Please see the attachment for all the information we have on the Model and Instruments.

Sincerely,

Nola Pender

APPENDIX E: QUALTRICS SURVEY

SMHAT-1 Qualtrics Survey

Start of Block: Demographic Questions:

Please write the first two letters of your mothers maiden name and the last two digits of your phone number.

 \bigcirc First two letters of your mother's maiden name (1)

 \bigcirc The last two digits of your phone number (2)

Please choose from the following:

 \bigcirc Male (1)

 \bigcirc Female (2)

 \bigcirc Prefer not to say (3)

What is your current level of education?

 \bigcirc Freshman (1)

 \bigcirc Sophomore (2)

 \bigcirc Junior (3)

 \bigcirc Senior (4)

Are you currently injured?

No (1)Yes (2)

Are you currently academically eligible to participate in your sport season?

No (1)Yes (2)

Are you currently receiving treatment for mental health concerns?

○ No (1)

○ Yes (2)

Are you currently utilizing mental health resources (ex. psychologist, student health services, counseling services, etc.) ?

○ No (1)

○ Yes (2)

Display This Question:

If Are you currently utilizing mental health resources (ex. psychologist, student health services, coun = Yes

If yes, please choose from one or more of the following resources:

 \bigcirc Student health services on campus (1)

 \bigcirc Student counseling center on campus (2)

 \bigcirc psychologist (3)

 \bigcirc primary care provider (4)

 \bigcirc coaches/athletic trainers (5)

 \bigcirc Other (6)

These questions concern how you have been feeling over the past 30 days:

It was difficult to be around teammates:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

I found it difficult to do what I needed to do:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

 \bigcirc All of the time (5)

I was less motivated:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

 \bigcirc All of the time (5)

I was irritable, angry or aggressive:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

I could not stop worrying about injury or my performance:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

 \bigcirc All of the time (5)

I found training more stressful:

None of the time (1)
A little of the time (2)
Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

I found it hard to cope with selection pressures:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

 \bigcirc All of the time (5)

I worried about life after sport:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

 \bigcirc All of the time (5)

I needed alcohol or other substances to relax:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

I took unusual risks off-field:

 \bigcirc None of the time (1)

 \bigcirc A little of the time (2)

 \bigcirc Some of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (4)

 \bigcirc All of the time (5)

End of Block: Demographic Questions:

Start of Block: Block 1

The following questions relate to feeling anxious or stressed. Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by the following problems? Please choose the answer that best represents how you have been.

Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Not being able to stop or control worrying:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Worrying too much about different things:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Trouble relaxing:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Being so restless that it's hard to sit still:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Becoming easily annoyed or irritable:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

End of Block: Block 1

Start of Block: Block 2

The following questions relate to feeling depressed, sad or blue. Over the past 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? Please choose the answer that best represents how you have been.

Little interest or pleasure in doing things:

Not at all (1)
Several days (2)
More than half the days (3)
Nearly every day (4)

Feeling down, depressed or hopeless:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Trouble falling asleep, staying asleep, or sleeping too much:

Not at all (1)
Several days (2)
More than half the days (3)
Nearly every day (4)

Feeling tired or having little energy:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Poor appetite or overeating:

 \bigcirc Not at all (1)

 \bigcirc Several days (2)

 \bigcirc More than half the days (3)

 \bigcirc Nearly every day (4)

Feeling bad about yourself - or that you're a failure or have let yourself or your family down:

Not at all (1)
Several days (2)
More than half the days (3)
Nearly every day (4)

Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television:

Not at all (1)
Several days (2)
More than half the days (3)
Nearly every day (4)

Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or, the opposite - being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual:

Not at all (1)
Several days (2)
More than half the days (3)
Nearly every day (4)

Thoughts that you would be better off dead or of hurting yourself in some way:

Not at all (1)
Several days (2)
More than half the days (3)
Nearly every day (4)
End of Block: Block 2

Start of Block: Block 3

The following questions relate to your sleep habits. Please choose the best answer which you think represents your typical sleep habits over the recent past.

During the recent past, how many hours of actual sleep did you get at night? (This may be different than the number of hours you spent in bed.)

 \bigcirc 5 to 6 hours (1)

 \bigcirc 6 to 7 hours (2)

 \bigcirc 7 to 8 hours (3)

 \bigcirc 8 to 9 hours (4)

 \bigcirc more than 9 hours (5)

How satisfied / dissatisfied are you with the quality of your sleep?

Very dissatisfied (1)
Somewhat dissatisfied (2)
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied (3)
Somewhat satisfied (4)

 \bigcirc Very satisfied (5)

During the recent past, how long has it usually taken you to fall asleep each night?

 \bigcirc 15 minutes or less (1)

 \bigcirc 16-30 minutes (2)

 \bigcirc 31-60 minutes (3)

 \bigcirc Longer than 60 minutes (4)

How often do you have trouble staying asleep?

Never (1)
once or twice per week (2)
three or four times per week (3)
five to seven days per week (4)

During the recent past, how often have you taken medicine to help you sleep (prescribed or overthe-counter)?

 \bigcirc Never (1)

 \bigcirc once or twice per week (2)

 \bigcirc three or four times per week (3)

 \bigcirc five to seven days per week (4)

End of Block: Block 3

Start of Block: Block 4

The following questions are about alcohol use.

How often do you have a drink containing alcohol?

 \bigcirc Never (1)

- \bigcirc Monthly or less (2)
- \bigcirc 2-4 times a month (3)
- \bigcirc 2-3 times a week (4)
- \bigcirc 4 or more times a week (5)

How many standard drinks containing alcohol do you have on a typical day when you drink?

1 to 2 (1)
3 to 4 (2)
5 to 6 (3)
7 to 9 (4)
10 or more (5)

How often do you have six or more drinks on one occasion?

Never (1)
Less than monthly (2)
monthly (3)
weekly (4)
daily or almost daily (5)

End of Block: Block 4

Start of Block: Block 5

The following questions are about drug(s) use in the last 3 months. When thinking about drug use consider legal ones like caffeine or nicotine, illicit/illegal drugs (including cannabis even if legal in your state/country) and prescription medications used in ways other than prescribed (i.e., higher dosages; different ways of taking them, i.e., crushing/sniffing, injecting). Do NOT include alcohol in these responses.

In the last three months, have you felt you should cut down or stop using drugs?

• Yes (1)

O No (2)

In the last three months, has anyone annoyed you or gotten on your nerves by telling you to cut down or stop using drugs?

○ Yes (1)

O No (2)

In the last three months, have you felt guilty or bad about how much you use drugs?

 \bigcirc Yes (1)

O No (2)

In the last three months, have you been waking up wanting to use drugs?

Yes (1)No (2)

In the last 3 months, which drug(s) or substance(s) listed below caused concerns or problems in your life? Concerns may include drug-related stress, depression. insomnia, financial strain, relationship conflict, heavy use/overdose, cravings, withdrawal, blackouts, flashbacks, fights,

arrests, missed work, and/or medical problems like hepatitis, seizures or weight loss. Please select all that apply.

None (1)
Stimulants-Nicotine (2)
hallucinogens (ex. LSD, mushrooms) (3)
Cannabis-marijuana (4)
Stimulants-powder cocaine (5)
inhalants (volatile solvents) (6)
Cannabis-oil (7)
Stimulants- crack cocaine (8)
opioids-heroin (9)
cannabis-edibles (10)
stimulants-methamphetamine (meth) (11)
opioids-opium (12)
cannabis-synthetics (K2, spice) (13)
stimulants-methylphenidate (ADD/ADHD medication) (14)
opioids-pain medications (ex. oxycodone, hydrocodone) (15)
club drugs (MDMA-ectasy, GHB) (16)
stimulants-amphetamine salts (ADD/ADHD medication) (17)

synthetic Cathinones (bath salts) (18)
stimulants-caffeine (19)
dissociative drugs (ketamine, PCP) (20)
Other (specify) (21)

End of Block: Block 5

Start of Block: Block 6

The following questions are related to your eating habits and your thoughts about food, eating, your weight and your body image. Over the past 2 weeks, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems?

I feel extremely guilty after overeating:

Always (1)
Usually (2)
Often (3)
Sometimes (4)
Rarely (5)
Never (6)

I am preoccupied with the desire to be thinner:

Always (1)
Usually (2)
Often (3)
Sometimes (4)
Rarely (5)
Never (6)

I think that my stomach is too big:

Always (1)
Usually (2)
Often (3)
Sometimes (4)
Rarely (5)
Never (6)

I feel satisfied with the shape of my body:

Always (1)
Usually (2)
Often (3)
Sometimes (4)
Rarely (5)
Never (6)

My parents have expected excellence of me:

Always (1)
Usually (2)
Often (3)
Sometimes (4)
Rarely (5)
Never (6)

As a child, I tried very hard to avoid disappointing my parents and teachers:

Always (1)
Usually (2)
Often (3)
Sometimes (4)
Rarely (5)
Never (6)

Are you trying to lose weight now?:

O No (1)

○ Yes (2)

Have you tried to lose weight?

O No (1)

O Yes (2)

Skip To: End of Block If Have you tried to lose weight? = No

If yes, how many times have you tried to lose weight?

1 to 2 times (1)
3 to 5 times (2)
>5 times (3)

End of Block: Block 6

Start of Block: Block 7

Please circle the answer that best describes how you have felt and conducted yourself over the past 6 months.

How often do you have trouble wrapping up the final details of a project, once the challenging parts have been done?

Never (1)
Rarely (2)
Sometimes (3)
Often (4)
Very Often (5)

How often do you have difficulty getting things in order when you have to do a task that requires organization?

Never (1)
Rarely (2)
Sometimes (3)
Often (4)
Very Often (5)

How often do you have problems remembering appointments or obligations?

Never (1)
Rarely (2)
Sometimes (3)
Often (4)
Very Often (5)

When you have a task that requires a lot of thought, how often do you avoid or delay getting started?

Never (1)
Rarely (2)
Sometimes (3)
Often (4)
Very Often (5)

How often do you fidget or squirm with your hands or feet when you have to sit down for a long time?

Never (1)
Rarely (2)
Sometimes (3)
Often (4)
Very Often (5)

How often do you feel overly active and compelled to do things, like you were driven by a motor?

Never (1)
Rarely (2)
Sometimes (3)
Often (4)
Very Often (5)

End of Block: Block 7

Start of Block: Block 8

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you felt so good or so hyper that other people thought you were not your normal self or you were so hyper that you got into trouble?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you were so irritable that you shouted at people or started fights or arguments?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you felt much more self-confident than usual?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you got much less sleep than usual and found you didn't really miss it?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you were much more talkative or spoke faster than usual?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and your thoughts raced through your head or you couldn't slow your mind down?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you were so easily distracted by things around you that you had trouble concentrating or staying on track?

• Yes (1)

O No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you had much more energy than usual?

 \bigcirc Yes (1) O No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you were much more active or did many more things than usual?

O Yes (1)
O No (2)
Page Break

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you were much more social or outgoing than usual, for example, you telephoned friends in the middle of the night?

```
Yes (1)No (2)
```

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you were much more interested in sex than usual?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and you did things that were unusual for you or that other people might have thought were excessive, foolish, or risky?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has there ever been a period of time when you were not your usual self and spending money got you or your family in trouble?

Yes (1)No (2)

If you checked YES to more than one of the above, have several of these ever happened during the same period of time?

Yes (1)
No (2)
N/A (3)

How much of a problem did any of these cause you — like being able to work; having family, money, or legal troubles; getting into arguments or fights?

No problem (1)
Minor problem (2)
Moderate problem (3)
Serious problem (4)

Have any of your blood relatives (ie, children, siblings, parents, grandparents, aunts, uncles) had manic-depressive illness or bipolar disorder?

Yes (1)No (2)

Has a health professional ever told you that you have manic-depressive illness or bipolar disorder?

 \bigcirc Yes (1)

 \bigcirc No (2)

End of Block: Block 8

Start of Block: Block 9

Sometimes things happen to people that are unusually or especially frightening, horrible, or traumatic. For example, a serious accident or fire, a physical or sexual assault or abuse, an earthquake or flood, a war, seeing someone be killed or seriously injured, or having a loved one die through homicide or suicide.

Have you ever experienced this kind of an event?

0	No	(1)
0	Yes	(2)

Skip To: End of Block If Sometimes things happen to people that are unusually or especially frightening, horrible, or trau... = No

If yes, did the event occur inside or outside of sport?

Inside (1)
Outside (2)
Both (3)

In the past month, have you had nightmares about the event(s) or thought about the event(s) when you did not want to?

Yes (1)No (2)

In the past month, have you tried hard not to think about the event(s) or went out of your way to avoid situations that reminded you of the event(s)?

Yes (1)No (2)

In the past month, have you been constantly on guard, watchful, or easily startled?

Yes (1)No (2)

In the past month, have you felt numb or detached from people, activities, or your surroundings?

Yes (1)No (2)

In the past month, have you felt guilty or unable to stop blaming yourself or others for the evet(s) or any problems the events may have caused?

Yes (1)No (2)

End of Block: Block 9

Start of Block: Block 10

Please choose the answer that best represents how you have been feeling towards gambling in the last 12 months.

Have you bet more than you could really afford to lose?

Never (1)
Sometimes (2)
Most of the time (3)
Almost always (4)

Have you needed to gamble with larger amounts of money to get the same feeling of excitement?

 \bigcirc Never (1)

 \bigcirc Sometimes (2)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Almost always (4)

When you gambled, did you go back another day to try to win back the money you lost?

 \bigcirc Never (1)

 \bigcirc Sometimes (2)

 \bigcirc Most of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Almost always (4)

Have you borrowed money or sold anything to get money to gamble?

Never (1)
Sometimes (2)
Most of the time (3)

 \bigcirc Almost always (4)

Have you felt that you might have a problem with gambling?

Never (1)
Sometimes (2)
Most of the time (3)
Almost always (4)

Has gambling caused you any health problems, including stress or anxiety?

Never (1)
Sometimes (2)
Most of the time (3)
Almost always (4)

Have people criticized your betting or told you that you had a gambling problem, regardless of whether or not you thought it was true?

Never (1)
Sometimes (2)
Most of the time (3)
Almost always (4)

Has gambling caused any financial problems for you or your household?

Never (1)
Sometimes (2)
Most of the time (3)
Almost always (4)

Have you felt guilty about the way you gamble or what happens when you gamble?

Never (1)
Sometimes (2)
Most of the time (3)
Almost always (4)

End of Block: Block 10

Start of Block: Block 11

Please choose the answer that best represents how you are feeling.

I feel uninterested in the things I used to enjoy:

 \bigcirc True (1)

 \bigcirc False (2)

Skip To: Q98 If Please choose the answer that best represents how you are feeling. I feel uninterested in the thi... = False
If TRUE: how much distress did you experience?

None (1)
Mild (2)
Moderate (3)

O Severe (4)

I often seem to live through events exactly as they happened before (déjà vu):

 \bigcirc True (1)

 \bigcirc False (2)

Skip To: Q100 If I often seem to live through events exactly as they happened before (déjà vu): = False

If TRUE: how much distress did you experience?

 \bigcirc None (1)

 \bigcirc Mild (2)

O Moderate (3)

 \bigcirc Severe (4)

I sometimes smell or taste things that other people can't smell or taste:

 \bigcirc True (1)

 \bigcirc False (2)

Skip To: End of Block If I sometimes smell or taste things that other people can't smell or taste: = False

If TRUE: how much distress did you experience?

None (1)
Mild (2)
Moderate (3)
Severe (4)

End of Block: Block 11

APPENDIX F: MENTAL HEALTH FIRST AID TRAINING CERTIFICATE



APPENDIX G: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Executive Summary

Introduction

College athletes experience increased prevalence of anxiety, depression, sleep disorder, substance misuse, and eating disorders when compared to general college student population. When suffering from mental illness, signs and symptoms that professional athletes portray may mimic behaviors that are normative for dedicated athletes with demanding schedules and high-performance expectations. Routine screening for mental health has been proven effective in identifying athletes who are at risk for, or currently suffering from mental health disorders. Early identification by athletic staff, coaches, and healthcare professionals is the key to facilitating early intervention and treatment to offer athletes a better outcome.

Purpose

The purpose of this project was to identify Division I college athletes who may be at risk for, or currently suffering from mental health illness. The mental health of the athletes was assessed over the duration of their sport season to determine if psychosocial distress is positively correlated with the progression of the sport season. The Sport Mental Health Assessment Tool 1 (SMHAT-1) was administered to freshman, sophomore, junior, and senior track and field athletes at a Midwestern University pre- and mid-competitive sport season to evaluate the trend in psychological well-being.

Project Design

An extensive literature review was conducted on MH risk factors, barriers, and common disorders among student athletes. This health improvement project was also guided by the Health Promotion Model by Nola Pender and the Plan Do Study Act (PDSA) model. Track and field

137

athletes were invited to attend an education session offered by the researcher. Information provided at this session included an introduction of the dissertation project, common mental health disorders among student athletes and the importance of mental health screening among Division I student athletes. Post educational session, 112 track and field student athletes were invited to complete the SMHAT-1 tool in the form of a Qualtrics survey both pre-season and again during mid-season to the track and field student athletes. The pre-season survey was administered to explore baseline mental health among the student athletes. The mid-season survey was administered to assess for any changes in mental health throughout the course of the competitive season. The results of the surveys were determined by the numerical value each student athlete scored on screening forms. Both surveys also included demographic information. The survey analysis findings were then disseminated in an aggregate form to the University's track and field coaches and athletic trainer.

Results and Conclusions

Out of 112 athletes on the 2023-2024 roster, 56 athletes completed the pre-season survey, and 32 athletes completed the mid-season survey. Psychological strain increased from pre-season to mid-season survey results. Findings from the pre-season survey support 39% (22 out of 56) of student athletes scored at or above 17 on the Athlete Psychological Strain Questionnaire (APSQ) screening tool and 50% (16 out of 32) of student athletes scored at or above 17 on the Athlete Scored at or above 17 on the APSQ form on the mid-season survey. There were 20 students who completed both the pre- and mid-season surveys. Out of these 20 students, there were four students who scored less than 17 on the pre-season APSQ but scored greater than 17 on the mid-season APSQ. There were no significant findings on the pre-season survey when compared to the mid-season survey results for anxiety, depression, sleep disturbance, alcohol misuse, drug use, or disordered eating. The majority of

student athletes who completed the surveys were female and in freshman year. No students answered 'yes' to utilizing mental health resources.

Recommendations

Results from this project suggest further assessment of mental health among student athletes over the course of their sport season may be warranted. While not statistically significant, mental health assessment among student athletes remains an important point of awareness. Encouraging the use of the SMHAT-1 tool may assist athletic staff, coaches, and primary providers in detecting early signs of mental health symptoms in athletes. Administering the SMHAT-1 tool to elite athletes with a previous history and/or known risk factors for mental health concerns pre-sport season should be considered. SMHAT-1 tool screening should also be considered among elite athletes after an adverse life event. Universal application of this tool may not be a great use of time for athletic staff and primary care providers. Screening for mental health among student athletes should continue to be completed by athletic trainers, coaches, sports medicine providers, primary providers, and providers within the student health center on campus to offer early identification of mental health symptoms, facilitate early treatment plans, and improve student athlete outcomes.